ED 029 239 AC 004 464

By-Burrichter. Arthur W.

A Study of Elementary Public School Personnel Attitudes Toward Continuing Education in Selected Communities in Wyoming: An Experiment in Changing Adult Attitudes and Concepts.

Pub Date Jun 68

Note-125p.: Ed. D. Thesis

Available from-Adult Education Library. Wyoming University. Laramie. Wyo. 82070

EDRS Price MF-\$0.50 HC-\$6.35

Descriptors-Attitude Tests. Bibliographies. \*Changing Attitudes. \*Continuous Learning. Doctoral Theses. \*Elementary School Supervisors. \*Elementary School Teachers. Films. Group Discussion. \*Information

Dissemination. Lecture. Questionnaires. Reading Materials. Research

A study was made to determine the attitudes of elementary public school teachers and administrators toward education as a lifelong process and the possibility of isolating, testing, and changing adult attitudes to encompass new concepts. Full time elementary school personnel (455) in Albany and Laramie counties completed a tested adult attitude scale. From these, 88 were selected for the experimental study: and of these 88. 41 completed the experiment. In Albany county. 12 of the 41 persons met in two sessions with a film, lecture, and small group discussions: while 29 from Laramie county received the information only through the mail in written form. Both methods of disseminating information about the tested concepts on the attitude scale were significantly effective in changing total scores in the low and high groups. Neither method showed greater effectiveness when comparing changes between low and high groups. However, the Albany county method of small group discussion produced a significantly greater change in total scores than did the Laramie county method of mailed information. (A bibliography and the questionnaires used are included.) [Not available in hardcopy due to marginal legibility of original document] (author/nl)



# U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, EDUCATION & WELFARE OFFICE OF EDUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPRODUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION ORIGINATING IT. POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT OFFICIAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY.

A STUDY OF ELEMENTARY PUBLIC SCHOOL PERSONNEL ATTITUDES TOWARD
CONTINUING EDUCATION IN SELECTED COMMUNITIES IN
WYOMING: AN EXPERIMENT IN CHANGING ADULT

ATTITUDES AND CONCEPTS

by

Arthur W. Burrichter

A Project Report

Submitted to the Department of

Adult Education and Instructional Services and
the Graduate School of the University of Wyoming in
Partial Fulfillment of Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

ADULT EDUCATION LIBRARY
UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING
LARAMIE, WYOMING

University of Wyoming

Laramie, Wyoming

June, 1968

C 004 464

This thesis, having been approved by the special Faculty Committee, is accepted by the Graduate School of the University of Wyoming, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education

Date May 23, 1968

Adžánc 1968 3942 C2

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The writer wished to express his appreciation to Dr. Glenn S. Jensen, who, in trying to further the cause of continuing education for all Wyoming citizens, not only suggested the study but was also helpful in obtaining partial financial support for the project.

To Dr. Jensen, the writer's major adviser, also goes a special measure of gratitude for the guidance, encouragement, and advisement provided in facilitating the successful completion of this project.

Appreciation is also extended to Dr. Robert C. Eicher and Dr. James Zancanella who served on the reading committee for their interest and helpful suggestions; and to Dr. Arthur C. Burman and Dr. Myron R. Basom who served as members of the examining committee.

Finally, the writer acknowledges a special debt to his family, and for the assistance and encouragement of his wife, Verna M. Burrichter, to whom this project is dedicated.

# CONTENTS

| CHAPTE | ER PAGE                                       |
|--------|---|
| ı.     | INTRODUCTION                                  |
|        | PURPOSE OF THE STUDY                          |
|        | IMPORTANCE OF THE STUDY                       |
|        | PROCEDURE                                     |
|        | LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY                      |
|        | DEFINITION OF TERMS                           |
| •      | Adult and/or Continuing Education 10          |
|        | Elementary Personnel                          |
|        | Attitude                                      |
|        | Attitude-Scale                                |
|        | Vocational Education Concepts                 |
| II.    | REVIEW OF SOME PERTINENT LITERATURE           |
|        | EDUCATION FOR ALL                             |
|        | Feelings of Society                           |
|        | Where Interests Begin                         |
| •      | Attitudes and Children                        |
|        | ADULT EDUCATION AT PRESENT 20                 |
|        | Challenge to Adult Education                  |
|        | Why Adults Participate                        |
|        | CONTINUING EDUCATION IN ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS 26 |
|        | Teacher Training                              |
|        | Attitude Change                               |

|        |  | iv  |
|--------|--|-----|
| CHAPT. | PA   | GE  |
| III.   | INSTRUMENTATION AND ANALYSIS                     | 35  |
|        | Initial Procedure                                | 35  |
|        | Highlights from Initial Data                     | 39  |
|        | Responsibility for Continuing Education          | 40  |
|        | Sub-Group Scores                                 | 41. |
|        | Age, Experience and Hours                        | 41  |
| IV.    | PROCEDURE AND RESULTS OF THE EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN | 54  |
|        | Selection of Experiment Participants             | 54  |
|        | Design of the Experiment                         | 56  |
|        | Results of the Experiment                        | 58  |
|        | Changes Within Sub-Groups                        | 59  |
|        | Changes Between Sub-Groups                       | ñΊ  |
|        | Changes Between Experimental Methods             | 62  |
| V.     | SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS        | 64  |
|        | SUMMARY  | 64  |
|        | The Problem                                      | 64  |
|        | Importance of the Problem                        | 54  |
| ×      | Procedure  | 65  |
| ٠      | Summary of Findings                              | 65  |
|        | Responses from Initial Data                      | 65  |
|        | Change in Experimental Groups                    | 67  |
|        | CONCLUSIONS                                      | 68  |
|        | RECOMMENDATIONS                                  | 70  |
| SELEC  | TED REFERENCES                                   | 73  |
|        |  | 70  |

APPENDIX A . . . . .

ERIC -

| ν |
|---|
| • |

|            |     |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   | : |   |   |   |   | V    |
|------------|-----|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|------|
| CKAPTER    |     |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   | F | PAGE |
| APPENDIX B | } . | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | • | 85   |
| APPENDIX C |     |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   |   | • |   |   |   |   |   |   |   | • |   | • | • | • |   |   | 114  |

•

...

.

.

.

•

.

.

# TABLES

| TABLE |   | PAGE    |
|-------|---|---------|
| I.    | AGE, EXPERIENCE AND GRADUATE HOURS COMPLETED          | . 42    |
| II.   | RANGE OF TOTAL SCORES AND PERCENTAGE ACCORDING TO AGE | ្ន ដូដុ |
| III.  | RANGE OF TOTAL SCORES AND PERCENTAGE ACCORDING TO     |         |
|       | EXPERIENCE  | . 45    |
| IV.   | RANGE OF TOTAL SCORES AND PERCENTAGE ACCORDING TO,    |         |
|       | GRADUATE HOURS COMPLETED                              | 46      |
| v.    | COMPARISON OF SUB-GROUP FOUR SCORES* WITH AGE,        |         |
|       | EXPERIENCE AND HOURS COMPLETED                        | 48      |
| VI.   | COMPARISONS OF SUB-GROUPS ONE, TWO AND THREE*         |         |
|       | ACCORDING TO AGE                                      | 50      |
| VII.  | COMPARISONS OF SUB-GROUPS ONE, TWO AND THREE*         |         |
|       | ACCORDING TO EXPERIENCE                               | 52      |
| vIII. | COMPARISONS OF SUB-GROUPS ONE, TWO AND THREE*         |         |
|       | ACCORDING TO GRADUATE HOURS COMPLETED                 | 53      |
| IX.   | NUMBER AND SIGNIFICANCE OF CHANGES* BY SUB-GROUP      |         |
|       | AND TOTAL SCORES                                      | 6       |

ERIC

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Education must be continuous throughout life. Scientific and technological progress demand constant updating of skills. Schools, homes, churches, and businesses remain in constant flux. An individual is never completely prepared for all problems of living in today's world. Because of this continual change, adult and continuing education programs are necessary or obsolescence takes over for those unwilling to further their learning.

Schools have not adequately developed among young people the concept that we are living in a fast-moving and changing world. Individuals either remain alert to new ideas and changes in living or they soon become laggards in life. The time lapse between new ideas and their inclusion in the educational system must be shortened, lest students in the years ahead be shortchanged as they have in the past.

Little doubt remains that public education has not effectively prepared its students for lifelong learning. Dropout rates are very high, and more student unrest exists than has been known to date. One reliable study found that an additional 7.5 million dropouts will join the ranks of unskilled laborers by 1970. These millions have been cheated out of much that is considered a reasonable American standard of living, simply because they have not prepared themselves to deal with complex problems in a changing world.

To further complicate the problem, the life-span of the average American is steadily increasing. This means the additional number of productive years could run into millions. Yet these will be lost unless some methods are effectively initiated to train this vast human potential for living in the twenty-first century.

To say the efforts of society have not been effective for huge numbers of Americans is to admit failure, but nothing constructive is accomplished by dwelling on past mistakes. Our vision must be toward the future, and how best to prepare those multitudes in school now and the coming years. Re-evaluation of priorities in public elementary education is essential, for educators have too long concentrated on areas that were of concern to our ancestors. The three R's are still important, and they must be mastered, but the more basic concept to be instilled in all humans must be a realization that learning, of one sort or another, is a basic lifelong goal and process. To pass from the formative years of childhood into adulthood without a realization that life, society, homes, schools, leisure time, and occupations are constantly changing is to enter adulthood with a crippling handicap, that of not knowing until too late that the world is changing rapidly while the "individual" is becoming obsolete.

The future of society is not now shaped, nor will it be, by single groups or forces. The days of a rural-agrarian society and economy no longer exist. The destiny of society will be shaped by many forces--social as well as economic, ideological as well as technological. These forces are all subject to human intervention,

and as such must be directed by adults who live and believe that adult learning is not optional to our democratic society.

The adults who are today charged with a great responsibility for future learning are the professional educators. They simply cannot view the future in terms of an outmoded present and past when working with school-age young people. Their outlook as professional persons and their attitudes must encompass education as a desirable lifetime process. They must realize that education in the public schools can no longer serve the lifetime needs of society. We must commit more of our educational effort to the education of adults. This requires a clientele receptive to continuing education and who will wholeheartedly support its program. As the professional educator becomes aware of continuing education, and instills this in his students, this clientele will become available.

The attitudes that exist among professional elementary school educators toward continuing education are uncertain. Observation leads one to believe that a number of teachers and administrators are well aware of the need for continuing education as evidenced by their personal and professional lives. Others apparently make little or no attempt to further their education unless required to do so by school boards or state laws. The necessity for determining what now exists in teacher attitudes is apparent before changes can be made or recommended. It is essential that elementary personnel be made cognizant of the need to nurture continuing education concepts in the youngest children. These are truly the formative years for educational ideas as well as the three R's.



The degree to which teacher attitudes are instilled in children by example and sincere teaching efforts has not been established. This writer feels that elementary personnel attitudes, examples, and teaching efforts are more significant in attitude development than has been realized. Anyone who doubts that teachers really exert both positive and/or negative influences on the classroom attitudes of children has not carefully observed the development of children's attitudes.

Teacher attitudes strongly affect classroom atmosphere and the performance of children in those classrooms. For years psychologists, administrators and parents have told of the difference one teacher has had over another on children. A conducive atmosphere which instills a desire to continue learning is upheld as the ideal classroom. The teacher that can help children relate to life, their peers, and to want to continue learning is cited as the "outstanding teacher" and often given meritorious ratings and pay increments. Positive teacher attitudes appear to be a key element in creating the most conducive learning situations for children.

Adult attitudes can be changed in various ways. No doubt remains that certain methods have been more effective than others in bringing about attitudinal change in adults. No one has, however, established the feasibility of changing elementary personnel attitudes toward the concept of continuing education. It is not known if these attitudes can be changed, and if so which method is superior to another. The degree to which a change in adult teacher

attitudes affects classroom attitudes and ultimately individual pupil attitudes is not clear. This vital area lacks significant research from which to make clear predictions or generalizations.

American education in the past has seemed clumsily big, slow, and defensive. What is really needed for the present and future is a new type of education that will be vitally in tune with the twenty-first century when it arrives. The educational system must be alert and adaptive to a changing world if democracy is to survive.

Adults, no doubt, will continue to prepare and reprepare in related trades and skills in order to remain employed during their employable years. These areas, when added to the constantly changing everyday activities of living such as child raising, food preparation, and leisure time activities make it essential that continuing education become an integral part of our schools and society.

Young people must realize that education is lifelong, continuous and rewarding. The homes and schools of this nation must certainly share in the formation of these concepts. This research was directed toward the part elementary public school teachers and administrators may play in the formation of such vital learning. It isolated elementary personnel attitudes toward continuing education and experimented with changing these attitudes.

# PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The purpose of this study was to determine the attitudes which elementary public school teachers and administrators held toward education as a continuing and lifelong process. It was to

determine if adult attitudes can be isolated, tested, and changed to encompass new concepts. Two varying methods were used in dissemination of materials given to the two experimental groups. It was to establish the extent of participation by elementary personnel, as well as to isolate their attitudes toward the appropriateness of the tested concepts at their educational teaching level.

In searching the literature no previous attempt was found to establish and isolate the attitudes which exist among elementary personnel toward continuing education. It is uncertain if elementary teachers feel an obligation to begin teaching the concept of continuing education to their students, or if administrators have feelings about initiating these concepts.

More specifically, the investigator sought to answer the following questions:

- 1. Are elementary personnel now participating, or have they participated in continuing education programs in the past three years?
- 2. Do elementary personnel feel elementary students can assimilate the concepts of continuing education?
- 3. Can teacher attitudes toward adult and continuing education be determined and isolated?
- 4. How will two differing approaches compare in changing elementary personnel attitudes?

# IMPORTANCE OF THE STUDY

Educational leaders in America have stated emphatically that a great need exists for understanding the concept of continuing education, particularly on the part of young people in the process of completing their formal schooling. Verner (46:14) stated that

the opportunity for continuing education is not being utilized:

Two major goals of adult education are not now being realized; only a minority of the population continue their education into adult life through organized programs; and the ideal of lifelong learning is achieved only for a few.

The concept of continuing education, for the most part, has not been instilled in our teachers before they leave the teacher education program. Teachers must be made aware that changes in education are imperative for our times. Hansen (20:76) made a strong case for educational competence:

Educational change . . . and the organizing, planning and decision making that goes into change . . . is no longer just a pleasant and discretionary luxury, or something we undertake if we are not busy doing something else. Our changing culture has placed inescapable demands upon our educational system . . demands that must be met by planned change. An educational system which lags behind the culture is intolerable in a time of rapid social change. Our society cannot afford schools which fail in any preventable measure to provide appropriate learning experiences for all of our citizens of every age and social background, to offer diversified programs to meet individual needs and develop individual potentialities, and to furnish the common experience-background which gives unity and direction to our society.

Many of the professions have long realized that continuing education is an essential phase of life's work. The professional educator must face the challenge other professions have
provided by instilling continuing education concepts into the
public schools at all levels. Public education can and must prepare its people for lifelong learning before they leave the
schools. Teachers, as educational leaders, must be personally
involved in education as a lifetime goal as well as an occupation.



The study established the degree of continuing education participation by elementary personnel. It also isolated some of the attitudes that existed among elementary personnel, and attempted to change them where desirable. It was not able to predict definite behavioral changes as a result of attitude change, but some will undoubtedly result. The study could not define or isolate definite attitudinal changes that occurred in elementary students because of a change in teacher attitudes, but the resulting interest in this area should stimulate in-depth studies which will isolate these heretofore untouched areas of human behavior.

### **PROCEDURE**

An adult attitude scale was developed. This instrument was pre-tested with sixty elementary teachers. Appropriate revisions were made. Copies of the scale were then administered to two graduate classes and a group of returning student teachers. The results were examined and deletions made. Experts in statistical methods and test construction were consulted and appropriate revisions were finalized.

The scale was administered to all full-time public elementary school teachers and administrators in Albany and Laramie counties of Wyoming as listed in the 1967-68 State Department records.

The data concerning attitudes, degree of involvement in continuing education programs, and who should be responsible for continuing education were summarized, compared and analyzed. These scoring low on the attitude scale and those scoring high were divided into an experimental group from each county. Each group received ideas and reasons relative to the support of continuing education programs. The method of presentation was different although the same basic points of concern were stressed. Although County personnel in addition to the printed materials, were presented a film, lecture, and then asked to discuss the strengths and weaknesses of continuing education as they interpreted it. The Laramie County personnel received only printed materials. They received no opportunity to discuss the materials, to ask questions, or gain feedback and reinforcement for their feelings and opinions. Retests of the attitude scale were then given to determine if a significant change in attitudes had occurred in any group. The "T" test was used to determine the degree of change. A significant difference between the two approaches used was also established.

### LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

This study was limited to public school elementary teachers and administrators in Laramie and Albany counties of Wyoming. The results of this study were designed to dictate a necessary curriculum for inclusion in elementary teacher training programs. While this may be desirable, and even a necessary research project, the writer considered this study's results a necessary prerequisite to the formation of such a curriculum.

The writer was aware that:

Attitudes do not necessarily reflect behavior.



- Attitudinal change does not necessarily imply behavioral change.
- 3. Behavioral change, as a result of attitude change, may occur gradually over an extended period of time and may not be indicated by an immediate retest of attitudes following an experiment such as this.
- 4. It is difficult to know the full extent of behavioral change resulting from this experiment.
- 5. The attitude scale was not scientifically tested for validity or reliability.
- 6. In that the attitude scale tested only written responses, it may in effect be testing symptoms rather than attitude changes.

#### DEFINITION OF TERMS

Adult and/or Continuing Education. This includes all educational activities which adults pursue that are part time. Three elements form this common basis; first, purposeful and orderly education, not just accidental education; second, voluntary, one participates on his own initiative and with his own motivation; and third, it is supplementary to the main responsibility of life.

Elementary Personnel. This includes all elementary public school teachers and administrators in Laramie and Albany counties of Wyoming as shown in the 1967-68 State Department records.

Attitude. A set, a readiness, a predisposition to behave in certain ways toward things in the environment. These things are usually significant social objects like groups of people, behaviors, and institutions.



Attitude-Scale. A specific measuring instrument created for this project which isolated readiness or a predisposition for the concepts of continuing education.

<u>Vocational Education Concepts</u>. Ideas and information about the world of work presented in simplified form for elementary students.

#### CHAPTER II

### REVIEW OF SOME PERTINENT LITERATURE

cation for adults while instilling a love for learning in children which will continue throughout a lifetime is essential. Samuel Brownell, former United States Commissioner of Education suggested at a recent Denver convention that evaluation of a school's effectiveness must include new concepts. His overwhelming concern was that schools encourage opportunities which promote learning by individuals, and encourage a desire to continue learning throughout life.

### EDUCATION FOR ALL

The education of all persons to their full capacities throughout life has traditionally been a community responsibility, but is rapidly becoming a national objective. The professors (26:5) first stated what is now realized by many as mandatory:

There must be a national perception, especially on the part of those who control educational policy, of the essential role of continuing education in preventing human obsolescence and in preserving and further developing the American society. The education of children and youth must be reoriented to a concept of learning as a lifelong process. Teachers in schools and colleges must learn to teach youth so that they leave formal schooling (a) with an insatiable curiosity, (b) with a mastery of the tools of learning, and (c) with a commitment to continue learning through the rest of their life span.

The feeling that education is enjoyable and rewarding was not held by all. The N.O.R.C. study (27:263) found:

Evidence . . . strongly supports the proposition that the lower classes do not view education in terms of self-realization and do not think of learning as an experience which is rewarding in its own right. The value of education, rather, is perceived strictly in terms of tangible gains, and learning pursuits are not associated with pleasurable life experiences. These underlying dispositions toward education are quite consistent with the vocational concentration of lower-class educational behavior.

These findings support the feelings of leading adult educators (26:13) who state:

The potential participation in organized programs of adult education is many times the present enrollment. Tapping this potential requires an imaginative and creative approach to the organization and administration of a program for adults. As presently constituted, organized adult education requires considerable experience with formal learning situations and, as a result, it cannot accommodate those with less experience. This holds implications for patterns of organization and methodology if adult education seeks to serve those with little previous formal schooling. The present patterns of adult education suit best those who need it least.

One of the most significant areas requiring the attention of adult educators has been cited. The persons who leave or drop formal education experiences with the least skills are those who have failed to respond to continuing education programs after they leave. N.O.R.C. (27:262) pointed out, "The idea that education is something which one might pursue throughout one's life is probably held less widely by the lower than the middle class." These concepts must be changed to include continuing education for all persons, and the change must begin early in life.

In a chapter titled "The Perception of Education Across the Social Continuum" the N.O.R.C. study (27) illustrated what many adult educators have suspected about the perception of continuing

education by various social classes:

- 1. The lower classes place less emphasis on the importance of high educational attainment, and aspire less often to a college education.
- 2. The average deprived person is interested in education in terms of how useful and practical it can be to him. There is practically no interest in knowledge for its own sake; quite the contrary, a pragmatic anti-intellectualism prevails.
- 3. Although education is widely recognized as an appropriate channel for social mobility, the average lower-class person is less ready than the average middle-class person to engage in continuing education even if tangible economic rewards are at stake.
- 4. The average lower-class person does not perceive education in terms of personal growth or self-realization, and this may explain why the lower classes are much less ready to turn to adult education for recreational purposes than they are for purposes of vocational advancement.

### Feelings of Society

A large segment of American society's feelings toward education, as found in the N.O.R.C. study, (27:21-22) must be altered if adult education is to fulfill its imperatives.

By far the most persistent finding in our investigation was that formal educational attainment plays a highly crucial role in determining whether or not one enters the ranks of adult students. Better educated adults were found not only to be more active in learning pursuits, but also to be more interested in learning per se, more ready to turn to formal instruction to satisfy interests, and much more knowledgeable about the existence of resources for continuing education . . . Adult education today does not cater primarily to those who are trying to complete an unfinished formal education; only a small fraction of those who take courses do so to receive formal credit for their studies. In this sense, the field cannot be said to play a primarily remedial or rehabilitative role on the American educational scene today. Most people who turn to adult education have at least average, and in many cases aboveaverage educational credentials. Because it is much more than remedial education, adult learning in America today can be better characterized as 'continuing education' -- continuing in



the sense of applying systematic learning processes to the particular demands and interests of adult life rather than in the sense of extending a formal education.

Continuing education is quite clearly a middle-and uppermiddle-class phenomenon in our society. There are very few continuing learners in our lower classes. Part of this tendency can be explained by the fact that learning and education are perceived and evaluated in radically different ways by persons on different rungs of the social ladder. Lower-class adults not only value high educational attainment less, but they assess the worth of education strictly in terms of the tangible advantages which can be gained from having it. see little value in obtaining knowledge for its own sake. findings of the existence of distinct middle-class and lowerclass orientations to education are hardly revolutionary, of course, but they have extremely important implications for adult education today. One consequence of the fact that the lower-class adult does not conceive of education in terms of personal growth or self-realization, for example, is that he is much less ready to turn to continuing education for recreational learning than for vocational learning. Lower-class adults realize fully that education can lead to employment opportunities and job security but education is in no sense defined as pleasurable. Indeed, for the typical lower-class adult, the concepts of 'learning' and 'spare-time enjoyment' convey quite opposite meanings.

Yet at the same time, there is a reasonably strong case for the contention that the lower classes in our society could benefit the most from instruction for use of leisure. What little objective evidence there is indicates that lower-class adults now have as much spare time as persons in higher social positions, but in our study we found that they also have greater difficulty in finding things to do with it and are considerably less enthusiastic about the prospects of having more. The paradox is that the segment of the population which may realize the greatest increment of free time in an age of automation is, on the one hand, the least well-prepared to handle it, and on the other, the least likely to turn to continuing education to develop and expand its spare-time interests. And it is this, perhaps, that constitutes the most critical challenge to the adult educators of the future.

## Where Interests Begin

Where do the interests for continuing education throughout life begin? French and Associates (13:95) felt that by the time



a student reaches high school he should recognize the importance of continuing to learn. He cited as illustrative behaviors:

- (a) Sees learning as a continuous process throughout life.
- (b) Views knowledge as exciting and worthy of further educational pursuit.
- (c) Enjoys the process of learning and the development of skills, not just the finished product.
- (d) Recognizes that learning occurs most effectively in terms of the individual's own effort; therefore, plans for his own growth.
- (e) Looks forward to college or other type of post-high school education as a time when he can participate more fully in the culture, thus broadening and deepening his knowledge and insight.
- (f) Respects scholarship for what it can do to enrich life.

It is apparent that these attitudes must be strongly entrenched before high school age. The home and early school experiences must foster these concepts in all children, rather than in a select few. N.O.R.C. (27:174) suggested:

both the parents' and the respondent's education have independent effects on learning dispositions, but the impact of one's own education is approximately twice as powerful as that which stems from having well-educated parents.

Another study by the Adult Education Association (25:13) explained the role of the home and school in concept development early in life:

The adult personality, we all recognize, has been conditioned by early experiences. The learning patterns of the adult—the ways by which he knows how to learn—reflects the ways in which he learned as a child . . . . Evidence from child—guidance clinics, counseling centers, social work agencies, and psychia—tric practice, supports the view that the most important influences on the child's personality stem from his relations to parents . . . next in importance as an influence on the child's personality are probably his early school experiences. The



public school represents the major deliberate effort of society to influence and develop the rising generations of adults.

These illustrate the significance of early educational experiences and attitudes toward school as a determing factor for those we can expect to find in continuing education programs.

While all learning must not necessarily be formal, the concept that learning is essential to living is most important for all persons. Older age groups feel differently about continuing education than do younger citizens. N.O.R.C. (27:167) found:

Learning interests decrease rapidly with increasing age and rise just as sharply in the higher educational brackets. In relation to age, it can also be noted that interest not only falls off continuously in each succeeding decade, but that the rate of the decrease appears to be an accelerating one.

These findings point up another significant fact; those who are most in need of outlets for leisure time activities are not always receptive to the opportunities available.

### Attitudes and Children

Of all the factors involved in developing a classroom atmosphere conducive to continuing education concepts the teacher likely exerts the greatest influence. Unless one can identify precisely the various types of environments which teachers encourage, and can discover what relationships exist between these environmental patterns and class participation in a love for learning, it seems futile to talk about improving teaching for changing attitudes.

The elementary school perhaps provides the best opportunity for educators to begin the concepts of continuing education early



in life. The influence of elementary personnel is tremendous, perhaps more so than we have realized. Smith (42:143) suggested the impact elementary personnel can make on their students:

The teacher has a great deal of prestige in the eyes of the child, particularly during the elementary-school years. Your attitudes toward family life, religion, government, race, fair play, honesty, hard work, and emotional control serve as models for the child's own attitudes, whether you want them to or not. If you make the best use of your prestige, your influence will be healthful and far-reaching. Your impact will be particularly strong on the child who, because he has failed to find security at home or in his peer group, must seek it elsewhere. Since one way for an insecure child to win security is by revising and redirecting his attitudes, your work with him will give you one of your greatest chances to make a valuable contribution.

This potential for development of attitudes in elementary students requires a high degree of skill on the part of the teacher. She must determine the attitudes that exist as well as the most effective way to instill new attitudes or reinforce those which exist. A number of studies (1, 4, 9, 22, 31, 32) have found that attitudes and ideals in children depend somewhat on age, amount of education, socio-economic status and occupation of parents and also on sex to a lesser degree. These must be considered by elementary personnel, but the more important factor is to assess the intensity of attitudes. (36:126)

Although the direction of attitudes is reasonably easy to measure, their intensity is much more difficult to appraise. And from an educational standpoint, intensity is far more important than direction.

Weltman and Remners (48) found a very high relationship (correlation of .80 to .87) between the attitudes of parents and their school age children. It was found that attitudes can be significantly changed



if instruction is aimed directly at creating a change with high school students as found by Remmers. (1) The attitudes of young children and adolescence can be changed in varying ways:

We can see as we study the psychological basis of attitudes that they are energized in large part by the individual's needs for security and the esteem of others. In early childhood, his attitudes conform to those of his parents; in adolescence, he seeks security and esteem in conformity to his peer group. (36:140)

Elementary personnel have two primary tasks as they attempt to work with attitudes: (42:147)

We have, then, as teachers two primary tasks as we attempt to improve attitudes and standards . . . first, we help the child to broaden his understanding of his beliefs and ideals . . . secondly, we encourage the child to adopt behavior that is consistent with his beliefs and ideals . . . .

The leader, in other words, is apt to set the tone. Attitudes are caught, not taught. This applies in organizations and class-rooms as well as it does in the family. (25:34)

The motives and attitudes of the individual teacher were of significance in this study. Prominent adult educators in the United States and Canada point out that the concept of education as a continuous learning process throughout life must be instilled with the earliest learning experiences of children in the elementary school. For this reason, the attitude of the elementary teacher toward continuing education becomes highly significant. The Commission of the Professors of Adult Education (10:5) stated:

Now a new note is appearing in American educational thought: adults must continue to learn; learning, like breathing, is a requirement of living. The assumption that learning is a lifelong process is based on a new fact of life: the accelerating pace of social change. For the first time in the history of

civilization, the time span of drastic cultural change has been telescoped into less than the lifetime of the individual. The current generation of mature adults now represents the first generation faced with managing a culture different in kind than the one originally transmitted to them. The consequence of this new fact of life is such that the well-educated youth of today is an obsolete man tomorrow.

#### ADULT EDUCATION AT PRESENT

As the economy and society of this country have become more complex, the demand for expert and flawless knowledge and skills has been prodigious. Competition has forced our system to employ more and more only those who are immediately efficient. Thus has come specialization, and the great educational need for it.

Like the economy, education has been unable to find a common denominator, a single fixed curriculum, through which, on the one hand, it can touch and challenge all capacities, or, on the other hand, provide a sound education for satisfying all society's needs. American culture is changing so rapidly that it is no longer possible to educate in one short span of early life for a lifetime of effective living. Progress has gone so far so fast that it is not possible to effectively teach all people any one thing, nor any one person all things. It is possible to teach many people many things if they will continue their education over a sufficiently long period of time, and at times at which they are strongly motivated.

The Commission (10:8) further emphasized the problem of adult education when it stated:

To its great disadvantage, the curriculum of adult education has no plan. It is largely an a la carte menu comprised of



miscellaneous items. It is not organized in a way that provides continuity and integration of learning. It is need-meeting but not goal-fulfilling. Finally, it is not connected with youth education by any concept of continuing development throughout the life span.

It seemed essential to determine the attitude of elementary personnel toward continuing education before one could successfully attempt to build upon it, or alter it. There seemed to be no doubt of the desirability for establishing a climate of continuous learning beginning in the elementary schools. In an attempt to determine if public schools and public school teachers were actually participating to an extent that would be feasible, certain questions arose: Should public schools have extensive programs of continuing education? Whom should they serve? Are teachers continuing learners?

Hartke (21:117) found:

Out of 15,200 school systems studied by the United States Office of Education, only 160 offered any instruction in adult basic education. For the older worker, deprived of the opportunity for education in his youth, the nation, as a whole, simply has no educational assistance.

Recently, the number of public schools participating in the adult education program has risen quite rapidly. In a 1964 survey, the National Education Association found that there were an estimated 12,432 public school systems which had 300 or more students. Of these schools about 54.2 per cent had an adult education program. No breakdown was given as to the number of schools providing basic adult education.

The public schools appear to have a clientele that is somewhat different in its makeup than either the university extension



programs or the community of junior colleges. Bruner (5:93) along with several others, found that:

Public schools serve a significantly larger per cent of those with less than a high school education than do other urban programs. Doubtless one reason for this is the considerable number of younger persons who left school before finishing, but who now find high school graduation a prereguisite for many types of jobs and hence return to finish. examination of the records of a number of school programs suggests that persons with high school graduation or more, enrolled in public school adult education classes are primarily interested in hobbies, cultural subjects and civic and public affairs forums. As would be expected those using university extension services have an above average amount of education. Only five per cent had not completed high school. Almost two-fifths were candidates for the bachelor's degree. Junior college adult education appears to attract persons of educational and economic status midway between those reached by public schools and university extension.

While some schools have an active adult education program, it is apparent that the number of illiterates, as well as other adult learners, demand a much greater use of public elementary facilities and personnel. Cass (7:8) pointed out:

There are approximately 10,000,000 adult citizens over twenty-five years of age in the United States today who are functionally illiterate. Nearly 60,000 new functional illiterates reach the age of fourteen each year. The number of adult functional illiterates was reduced only about one million during the past decade in spite of adult education activities. The present high rate of adult illiteracy in one thousand persons there will be found nineteen illiterates, thirty-seven others who have not completed the fifth grade (functional illiterates) and about twenty aliens. Many communities have more illiterates than college graduates.

# Challenge to Adult Education

United States Senator Vance Hartke (21:118) pointed out the great challenge for adult education in saying:

Adult education is a must. Before the necessary upgrading of the technical skills can be effected there must be an



upgrading of basic educational skills for many. The United States Office of Education now estimates that we have more than twenty-two million adult functional illiterates in this country, men and women without the equivalent of an eighth grade education.

Sixty-two per cent of the jobless fathers of children receiving Aid to Dependent Children have less than an elementary school education.

As the Senate report points out, and this should be emphasized, 'A public education system to which older workers can return to upgrade their skills does not yet exist in the United States.'

Senator Hartke (21:119) further cited the great need for education to begin perpetuating itself when he suggested, "The role of the elementary school and elementary educators seems paramount in inducing a change toward a concept among all students of continuous learning."

Teaching, as well as society, is undergoing rapid changes as new knowledge continues to mushroom. Many school systems and more states require teachers to continue their education in the years they are active teachers. This great need for continuous learning on the part of professional educators hardly needs elaboration, but one man who has made a strong plea for continuing education of teachers is Kidd: (29:303)

A teacher must be a learner himself. If he has lost his capacity for learning he is not good enough to be in the company of those who have preserved theirs. Dr. D.M. Coaly once put it more bluntly. 'The man who has ceased to learn ought not to be allowed to wander around loose in these dangerous days.'

### Why Adults Participate

Verner (46:12) found there were several specific things which determine the amount of further education adults strive for.



He suggested the following:

The most significant determinant of participation seems to be the amount of earlier formal school experience. Education breeds the desire for more education, therefore, those with more education, rather than less, seek further education in adult life.

Participation in organized adult education programs decreases with age. Most of the programs attract the younger age groups while Cooperative Extension and the packaged programs draw more from the middleaged. None of the existing programs is particularly attractive to the youngest child or the eldest.

Participants in existing programs of adult education are drawn in disproportionate numbers from limited segments of the population. At present, a distinct minority of the adult population is involved and, as a result, adult education is widening the gap between the educated and the educationally underprivileged by encouraging the former to continue learning and thus keep in step with changing conditions, while the latter group is left in a growing state of maladjustment.

The educational needs of large segments of the adult population are not now being served by existing programs. Thus, we find that those with less than eighth grade education; those over fifty-five years of age; those from lower socio-economic levels; and those from certain ethnic and cultural groups are not involved in adult education. It is obvious from the data that present patterns of organization and education opportunities are adopted to those who participate rather than for those who don't.

The number of authors who cited reasons why we must develop the concept of continuous education and provide imaginative new programs of adult education is nearly endless. Yet, in many areas it is not recognized as one of our major concerns in modern education. With the United States population reaching an estimated 228 million by 1975, it becomes readily apparent that overcrowding, congestion, and closer and more frequent interpersonal contacts in both the home and the community will be a result. This requires learning how to live together more effectively. Wilbur Hallenbeck



## (19:4) illustrated the point:

A democratic society depends upon adult education operating in its communities to help people understand democracy, to learn how to make it come to pass, and to become able to fully appreciate its benefits.

An author who perhaps summarized the past role of the public schools and gave an indication of the possible future direction is Robert A. Luke (8:10) of the National Association of Public School Adult Educators.

One hundred years ago, when the public school adult-education movement was getting underway, the adult-education role of the public schools was primarily thought of as offering opportunities for immigrants from abroad to learn English; or to enable boys and girls, who had to leave school to go to work, to complete their formal education in 'night school.' These concepts of the role of the public school in adult education are still valid, and programs in these areas still represent an important part of the public school's educational responsibility to adults.

In time, however, the public school's adult education program was broadened and the adult curriculum expanded to make available opportunities for employed adults to study a new trade, or to increase their skills in the occupation where they were presently employed.

Along with this development in adult education was the recognition of homemaking as an important vocation, and the public schools began offering educational services designed to help mothers and fathers create a better and more comfortable home for themselves and their children. The pursuit of vocational interests also became an established part of the adult curriculum of the public schools. These programs, too, continue to be an important part of the curriculum of today's public school adult education programs.

Through all of this time, the adult education facilities of the public schools also have carried the principle burden of helping overcome the educational deficits arising from the lack of educational opportunities to many children and young people. Throughout their history the public schools have helped many adults acquire the educational opportunity denied them in their youth.

Today, however, the public schools are beginning to address their curriculum for adults into still another significant area.



This is the addition to the curriculum of the systematic and self-conscious provision of opportunities for all adults in the community--including those who already possess a full measure of formal education--to have the opportunities to grow in wisdom and to acquire the skills necessary for making decisions as citizens of a democracy. While this has always been an assumed outcome of all adult education, enrichment of the curriculum specifically designed to foster and develop citizenship represented a relatively new emphasis.

### CONTINUING EDUCATION IN ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS

These authors have illustrated the vital role that adult education must play in the future. Somewhat less clear is the way in which the public school teachers may introduce continuing education concepts to their students. No doubt remains that these concepts must be introduced early in a child's life in order to be most effective. Lorge (35:5) said:

By age 10, children have created for themselves a negative picture of aging; graduate students not only have such a view, but even a course on the psychology of aging does little to reduce the negative picture.

In attempting to establish the degree to which elementary personnel actually believe in continuing education, and carry this belief into their classrooms, some uncertainty is experienced. We know society will demand changes in the lifetime occupational goals of students and adults. With this knowledge arises the problem of determining the attitudes of teachers, and then to establish the degree to which they may be changed.

### Teacher Training

Teachers, as adult learners, are subject to the same emotional and personal insecurities exhibited by most adult learners. Lewin



and Grabble (34:53) found, "People do not change their behavior unless the present situation fails to satisfy their needs. And being under tension, they are ripe for change."

Several authors (14, 25, 43) discussed the problems which must be faced in working with elementary personnel on attitude change.

Glaser (14:529) felt:

Much of training research is designed to find teacher behaviors that will increase the effectiveness with which student behavior undergoes modification . . . One way is by the selection of new teachers who manifest the desired behavior . . . another is The latter is the to attempt to modify the behavior directly. usual procedure attempted but one suspects that the results tend to be quite unsatisfactory. Behavior is not generally that easily modified. Teachers do not change their ways of behaving simply by being told that learning would proceed with greater efficiency if they behaved differently . . . . Educational research based on the assumption that teachers will change their behavior if they are told how to make their teaching more efficient is very naively undertaken. Rather one must assume that teacher behavior is likely to be the component in the system least amenable to direct change . . . part of the difficulty of modifying teacher behavior stems from the fact that a particular teacher is likely to show a marked tendency to emit certain kinds of verbal behaviors rather than others and changing the behavior of the teacher involves changing verbal habits which are likely to be well established and powerfully reinforced.

The Adult Education Association of the United States (25:23) summarized the many facets of adult behavior to be considered in working with any adult, including elementary personnel:

Those who teach adults tend to corroborate findings of studies that there are many kinds of learning to which adults are exposed and that the difficulties in teaching adults are of a different kind from those encountered among undergraduates and children. The obstacles to teaching are often intensified by the failure of teachers to adapt techniques to the adult personality. On the other hand, the adult's culturally imposed fears about his own abilities are sometimes too great to be overcome with anything less than the most expert understanding by the teacher. This places a heavy burden upon the adult educator

who must not only prove to himself that he is confident of the adult's abilities, but must also transmit that confidence to the adult student.

If we can change attitudes to encompass continuing education concepts, is there one method preferable over another with elementary personnel? Welch and Verner (47:231) suggested that the problem of effectiveness in the approach used in disseminating information needs much research:

The continuous study of the relative effectiveness of a variety of processes in varying situations with differing groups of adults is one of the most pressing needs of adult education. At the moment there is little if any valid scientific basis upon which the practicing adult educator can make wise choices among the variety of processes available. Some progress in this area is being made, but many of the studies fail to draw precise distinctions among the processes studied or to measure effectiveness in a definite way.

Their study went on to show that changes in behavior were brought about best by adult education group methods. These group processes were under the continuous direction of an educational agent, whereas the communication method of sending out materials placed the learning process solely in the hands of the learner. They concluded: (47:236)

This study examines the relative effectiveness of two discrete processes for the diffusion of knowledge by using changes in behavior expressed through the adoption of recommended practices as an indication or measuring of the degree of learning achieved. It found that the adult educational group method was significantly better than the communication method in changing behavior and that both were significantly better than indirect influences with the particular group studied. Supplementing the educational method by using the communication method did not result in a statistically significant increase in adoption over the educational method alone.



A study, "Behavior Change Following a Persuasive Communication," carried out by Anthony G. Greenwald (16:391) has shed additional light on the problem. Four studies were conducted of which three showed a definite behavior change following a persuasive communication. The fourth showed a pattern of belief change with no behavior change occurring only in subjects who, before the communication, committed themselves to a position opposing it.

A great number of studies have been done in attempts to change attitudes in varying degrees. Some of the earliest work of significance was that of Lewin (33). He attempted to measure the practical outcomes of learning, involving first a change of cpinion and then a change in actions. Beals and Bohlen (2) conducted thirty-five studies over a period of twenty years which showed that individuals vary greatly in the readiness with which they will accept new ideas and practices. About 5 per cent of a given population came to a decision quickly, while the more alert members of the general population follow after a measurable time lag. Finally, a small number never shift their position or adopt the idea or practice.

The credibility of the communicator appears to have an influence on learning or the acceptance of the message. Howland and Weiss (24) found the same content was accepted equally well from three levels of credibility, but that opinions were influenced in the direction advanced when they came from a high credibility source. This effect, however, diminished with time. Greenberg (15:148) suggested that:



At best, it has been demonstrated that attitudes and information levels are not sufficiently correlated to enable predictions of one from the others. Evidence to this point is largely from surveys where no specific attempt was made to impart new information or to persuade, let alone to do both concurrently.

The problems inherent in working with attitudes were well detailed in the literature. Bruner (5:54) stated:

It has been indicated that adult educators tend toward overgeneralized usage of the term 'attitudes.' The root of the
problem seems to be that adult education attitude research does
not go farther than ascertaining their positive or negative
dimensions; there are other dimensions which, if known, might
serve to highlight the wide variations of attitudes among a
population, and might help to explain variations in the effects
of educational programs among a group which is generally favorably inclined to the program.

Bruner indicated further that attitude research differs from interest research largely in terms of making a distinction between a cognitive or intellectually perceptive view of an object and the person's affective view of it:

This distinction is of utmost importance because it puts into researchable terms the basic questions adult educators must ask in evaluating their efforts—what is the relation of one's knowledge about the world around him to his feelings about it, his policy orientation toward it, and ultimately his actions? Does an increase in his knowledge bring about a change in his affective reactions?

In a 1947 study concerning adult attitudes toward Russia,
H. Brewster Smith (41) pointed out that attitudes may have various
reasons for existence. The frustration for adult educators was
that those who held the most stereotyped and least-informed views
about Russia also showed a lack of concern. This tendency for
persons to remain relatively stable in their feelings unless they



find through experience they are thwarted in satisfying a basic human need is strongly stated by Edwards (11:355). He said:

A person's attitudes are developed only insofar as they help him to satisfy his needs and provide meaning to his environment . . . in other words attitudes arise from both personal needs and cultural stimulation.

Attitudes simplify the psychological life of the individual. They supply him with ready-made frames of reference which he can and does use often unknowingly, to judge "other" objects, events and behaviors. Kerlinger (28:5) pointed out:

Attitudes, then, perform very important and necessary functions: they give psychological continuity to the individuals social and psychological life, and they furnish him with the ready wherewithal for making responses to complex stimuli.

Attitudes are perhaps major determinants of many perceptions, but particularly of perceptions of complex objects subject to ambiguous interpretation . . . the clearer the objects of perception, the less will attitudes affect such judgments. Attitudes should affect the educator's judgments more than the physician's judgments, since the criteria of a good physician are more concrete and specific than the criteria of a good teacher.

Newcomb, (37) in discussing how attitudes endure, believes that when a person perceives an influence as a force opposed to his ego-involvement, he is likely to counter with other forces toward defense of his own self. Almost instantaneously, the individual tends to intensify his own attitude in spite of influences that seek to change it. Arguments seem to be ineffective as they actually arouse a person's defense motives. In other words, people are apt to maintain their attitudes for one or two reasons: either they have met no new influences because they have selected the nature of their perceptions, or they are able to counter



pressures which are opposed to their views with various facesaving defenses, usually based on the social support of some group.

## Attitude Change

Despite the inherent tendency of attitudes to preserve themselves, they can be modified. Houle, (23) in his account of the Armed Services' educational program, presented research evidence which showed that adult attitudes can be changed. Others, such as Tuckman and Lorge (44) and Edwards (11) pointed out that the nature and degree of ego-involvement in the material is significant. suggested that the most favorable time for modifying attitudes was during periods of emotional tension or strife. Hall (18:129) said, "A considerable degree of emotional stir-up may be necessary to unfreeze the present and refreeze at the new level . . . change has a better chance of succeeding if the step-up is great rather than small." He described the three levels which accomplish this change as: (1) unfreeze the present level, (2) move up to the new level, and (3) freeze at the new level. Eichholz (12) suggested many other factors which often play a less important part than might be suspected. His study dealt with why teachers reject new approaches. It was found that such factors as the number of years of teaching experience or the grade taught made no appreciable The important factors seemed to be based on the subject's inner state of being rather than on any one method, technique or device.

The most successful approach to use in changing attitudes has been discussed in length both inside and outside of adult

education circles. Birnbaum, (3) in his article, "Mind and Emotion in Adult Education" debated whether "emotional" or "rational" appeals were more effective in changing attitudes. Remmers (39) found that factual approaches designed to change attitudes were only successful when the facts were presented in a one-sided approach and there was a definite attempt to produce emotional entanglements related to the facts. Other research has shown that among people initially favorable to the suggested attitude, presenting one side was more effective; among those initially opposed the presentation of both sides with positive conclusions was more effective. An important factor in this research showed that the better-educated changed their opinions more when only one side was given.

Although attitudes are often suggested by various "models" of one sort or another, the proposed attitude pattern must fit into the personality of the individual adopting the attitude. The attitudes suggested usually will not persist unless confirmed by experience. One type of experience which has a positive effect on attitudes is developed in a group context. Guilford (17:254) has written:

Since attitudes are developed in a social context, it is much easier to change the attitudes of individuals formed into groups of their choosing, than it is to change the attitudes of people without group affiliation.

The selected material presented here represents part of the literature on attitudes, attitudinal change, and the most conducive methods to elicit change. The evidence indicated that LIBRARY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING LARAMIE



desirable changes in adult behavior must result from personal meaning to the adult learner. Perhaps the best summary is put forth by Verner (45:25):

Desirable changes . . . are accomplished when the processes employed for organized systematic learning are effective in transmitting the necessary knowledge in a manner appropriate to the organizational and cultural patterns of the adult participants through procedures appropriate to the content, the learning situation, and the individual participant.

When the methods employed to introduce proposed changes accomplish learning systematically and when a variety of techniques are utilized to facilitate the acquisition of knowledge from which systematic learning results, then the alterations in behavior that occur will have a greater degree of permanency.



#### CHAPTER III

### INSTRUMENTATION AND ANALYSIS

The purposes of this chapter were threefold: to explain the procedure used in gathering the initial data on attitudes; to summarize highlights from the initial data; and to analyze individual and group characteristics relative to specific data areas.

## Initial Procedure

A total of 455 elementary personnel in Laramie and Albany counties were listed as full-time elementary teachers or administrators in the 1967-68 Wyoming State Department of Education records.

From these records the following information was gathered; the age of the subjects, the number of years of teaching experience or administration, the number of hours held beyond the bachelor's degree, and the institution of higher education from which each graduated.

Each of these persons was mailed an adult-attitude scale which had been specifically devised for this project. This scale was designed to measure elementary personnel attitudes toward specific areas of concern about adult and continuing education, the learning process, motivation and readiness, awareness of changes in society and the need for support of continuing education to stay abreast of these changes. No other suitable scale could be located, and those scales which did exist were designed primarily for fields such as guidance and counseling and personnel administration.



While certain items from existing scales may have been usable, it seemed desirable to develop a scale designed specifically to measure the attitudes of elementary school personnel toward continuing education concepts in this project.

The initial design was developed by the writer and experts in adult education at the University of Wyoming. This scale was then administered to sixty elementary teachers in the Midwest. results of this sampling pointed out the strengths of the scale, as well as the need for revision of numerous items. Appropriate revisions were made after consulting with adult education leaders in Wyoming and Colorado in attitude-scale construction, statistical procedures, and item construction. It was then administered to forty returning Wyoming student teachers and a class of thirty graduate students for criticism of construction, design and appropriateness. Revisions were again made after consulting the chairman of the statistics department concerning any further statistical procedures which might add stature to the scale or to its adminis-The scale was then used with a class of adult education graduate students who were requested to critically examine all phases of the instrument with particular attention to clarity, purpose, basic premises and design. After these suggestions had been discussed by experts in adult education, vocational education, statistical methods, item construction, and administration, twentysix specific items were selected for inclusion in the final attitude This selection was based on three previous administrations, scale. revisions, and the advice of numerous authorities in the field.

ERIC

The directions for answering the scale, found in Appendix A, page 78, as well as the seven-item scale used, were developed using Osgood's (38) book as a guide.

Over 75 per cent of the attitude scales were returned, and a final sample of 298 persons was selected. All of the information presented in this chapter was based on the answers provided by the 298 respondents. In some cases several individuals chose not to answer every item. This fact accounts for the varying number of total responses reflected in the tables.

Ten days after the initial attitude-scale had been received by the respondents, a follow-up letter was sent requesting the immediate return of the scale. When this did not bring the desired results, each individual received a personal telephone call from the writer requesting his cooperation. Many persons offered apologies for the delay, and volunteered to forward the scale immediately. Others stated a dislike for the time required to complete the scale, and asked to be excused because of their professional work load. Some stated they simply were not interested in participating. The final tabulation was slightly better than 77 per cent from Albany County and 63 per cent from Laramie County.

In the initial four items on page one of the scale dealing with personal involvement in continuing education programs, the respondents were asked to indicate their feelings about where the responsibility rested for continuing education programs. They were asked to respond to three things; had they completed a continuing education course in the past three years; were the courses

completed taken for credit, non-credit or combinations; and, was the main reason for participation in continuing education to advance on the salary schedule, complete a degree, satisfy a personal need, strengthen their profession in teaching, or satisfy a professional requirement.

The fourth section of page one asked for opinions of where the responsibility rested for providing programs of continuing education: public schools, junior or community colleges, colleges and universities, business and industry, or other areas.

The final part of the instrument, the attitude scale, was composed of 26 items. One total score representing the sum of all 26 items was established for each respondent. In addition, four major sub-groups were established to aid in a further breakdown of each respondent's answers.

Sub-group one included items dealing with concepts of adult and continuing education. The items included in this sub-group were numbers 1, 5, 10, 11, 14, 21 and 24. Sub-group two included items concerned with the learning processes of children and adults. The items included in sub-group two were numbers 4, 6, 9, 13, 15, 19 and 23. Sub-group three included the respondents attitude toward how best to motivate and prepare children for the concepts of continuing and vocational education. The items included in sub-group three were numbers 2, 3, 7, 12, 16, 17 and 20. Sub-group four included items about the changes which were occurring in society and the need for support of continuing education programs to deal with these changes. Items included in sub-group four were numbers 8, 18, 22, 25 and 26.



## Highlights from Initial Data

The typical respondent was 43 years old, had 13 years of experience, and had completed 17.5 hours beyond the bachelor's degree. These persons had completed continuing education courses in the past three years.

While any individual could score as low as one or as high as nine points on any item, the average respondent scored 6.54 points on each item in the scale. Since nine indicates a strongly positive attitude toward the concepts tested in the scale and one a strongly negative attitude, the 6.54 average response by all persons on all items indicated the average elementary person felt rather positively about the concepts tested in this scale.

Two hundred and forty-two persons (81 per cent) completed continuing education courses in the previous three years, 1965 to 1967. These persons scored an average of 171.5 total points on the scale, where 234 maximum points were possible. Fifty-six persons (19 per cent) had not completed any courses, and their average of total points on the scale was 163.6. This difference of eight points was shown to be significant at the .05 level.

The respondents participated in continuing education courses mainly for credit. Of the total, 188 (78 per cent) indicated credit courses had been their choice; 40 persons (16 per cent) said they had taken courses for a combination of reasons, both credit and non-credit; and 14 (6 per cent) indicated they had taken only a non-credit course in the past three years.

Twice as many teachers took continuing education courses to satisfy a professional requirement as they did for any other reasons. Ninety-four respondents (40 per cent) indicated they had taken courses to keep a professional certificate in force or for other professional reasons. Half as many, 47 (20 per cent) said they had taken courses to strengthen their teaching. Forty-four (18 per cent) had participated to complete a degree, while 43 (17 per cent) wanted to satisfy a personal need. Fourteen respondents (6 per cent) said they were interested in continuing education courses only to advance on the salary schedule.

Responsibility for Continuing Education. A majority of the respondents, 161 (67 per cent) felt that the responsibility for continuing education programs should rest with colleges and universities. Only 54 respondents (22 per cent) said the public schools should play a role in this endeavor. Twelve (5 per cent) said the junior or community colleges should play some role in these programs, 7 (3 per cent) said it should be business and industry, and 8 people (3 per cent) stated that other agencies such as churches, community organizations, and YMCA's/YWCA's should be responsible.

It was interesting to note that total scores for Wyoming versus non-Wyoming graduates were almost exactly the same. The total average score for the 174 Wyoming graduates was 169.983 while the 124 non-Wyoming graduates scored 169.992. No significant difference existed in the feeling shown by these two groups of teachers.



Sub-Group Scores. In comparing the four areas represented by sub-groups, sub-group one dealing with concepts of adult and continuing education had the lowest average scores by all respondents. An average score of 5.8 indicated many respondents were rather uncertain about the value of the concepts as represented in this scale.

Sub-group four, concerning changes in society and support of continuing education was only slightly higher with an average score of 6.5 by all respondents in this area.

Sub-group three, concerning readiness and motivation for vocational and continuing education concepts was somewhat higher with an average score of 6.8 by all respondents.

Sub-group two, dealing with the learning processes received the highest average scores (6.9) by all respondents. While this score represents a positive stand by the respondents, it clearly indicated a great deal of work is yet to be done with elementary personnel attitudes before they begin to approach a highly positive position as measured by this instrument.

## Age, Experience and Hours

Three basic categories were established on which to base comparisons. These were age, experience and hours completed beyond the bachelor's degree. A further breakdown of each category is illustrated in Table I.

The greatest number of teachers (117) were over 51 years of age, with the remainder (180) closely divided between the age



TABLE I

AGE, EXPERIENCE AND GRADUATE HOURS COMPLETED

| Category                       | Number of Respondents | Per Cent |
|--------------------------------|-----------------------|----------|
| Age in Years                   |                       |          |
| 20 to 35                       | 94                    | 31.6     |
| 36 to 50                       | 86                    | 28.9     |
| 51 & over                      | 117                   | 39.5     |
| Years of Teaching Experience   |                       |          |
| 0 to 10                        | 148                   | 49.7     |
| ll to 20                       | 82                    | 28.6     |
| 21 to 30 ·                     | 36                    | 12.1     |
| 31 & over                      | 32                    | 9,6      |
| Graduate Hours Beyond the Back | nelor's Degree        |          |
| 0 to 15                        | 173                   | 58.1     |
| 16 to 30                       | 64 .                  | 21.5     |
| 31 to 45                       | 33                    | 11.1     |
| 46 & over                      | 28                    | 9.3      |

groups 20 to 35 (94) and 36 to 50 (86). Nearly one-half of the elementary personnel had ten years or less of teaching experience, 30 per cent had 11 to 20 years and only 20 per cent had 21 or more years teaching experience. Well over one-half of all teachers had 15 hours or less beyond the bachelor's degree. Approximately 20 per cent (61 persons) had 31 or more hours, which would be a master's degree if 30 hours were considered a minimum.

Table II illustrates the difference which existed in total scores for the various age categories. Respondents who were 35 years of age or less totaled 23.4 per cent and had total scores above 186 points. Persons 36 to 50 or 20.9 per cent scored at the same level, and 13.7 per cent of the older teachers (51 and over) reached this level in total score.

The more experience a teacher had, the less likely the person was to value the concepts tested by this scale. The youngest teachers with teaching experience of 20 years or less consistently scored higher in the two highest categories than did their older counterparts with 21 years or more experience in the classroom, as shown in Table III.

Although 46 hours beyond the bachelor's degree was the category with the fewest numbers in it, these respondents scored higher than did those with less education. Table IV shows the manner in which additional graduate hours affect total scores. Persons with 31 hours or more consistently recorded the highest total scores. Judging from these responses, graduate hours do affect total scores as measured by this attitude scale.



TABLE II

RANGE OF TOTAL SCORES AND PERCENTAGE ACCORDING TO AGE

| Category     |            | I          | Range (    | of Total   | l Scor     | es - Num   | nber o     | f Person   | ns and     | Per Cer    | it         |            |
|--------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|
| Age in Years | 106<br>No. | - 125<br>% | 126<br>No. | - 145<br>% | 146<br>No. | - 165<br>% | 166<br>No. | - 185<br>% | 186<br>No. | - 205<br>% | 206<br>No. | - 225<br>% |
| 20 to 35     | 3          | 3.2        | 2          | 2.1        | 28         | 29.8       | 39         | 41.5       | 21         | 22.3       | 1          | 1.1        |
| 36 to 50     | 1          | 1.2        | 9          | 10.5       | 24         | 27.9       | 34         | 39.5       | 16         | 18.6       | 2          | 2.3        |
| 51 and over  | ц          | 3.4        | 10         | 8.5        | 30         | 25.6       | 57         | 48.7       | 16         | 13.7       | 0          |            |

TABLE III

RANGE OF TOTAL SCORES AND PERCENTAGE ACCORDING TO EXPERIENCE

| Category                       |            | P          | lange o    | of Total   | Score      | es – Num   | ber o      | f Person   | is and     | Per Cer    | nt         |                 |
|--------------------------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|-----------------|
| ears of Teaching<br>Experience | 106<br>No. | - 125<br>% | 126<br>No. | - 145<br>% | 146<br>No. | - 165<br>% | 166<br>No. | - 185<br>% | 186<br>No. | - 205<br>% | 206<br>No. | <b>- 2</b> 25 % |
| 0 to 10                        | 4          | 2.7        | 6          | 4.1        | . 43       | 29.1       | 63         | 42.6       | 29         | 19.6       | 3          | 2.0             |
| ll to 20                       | 1          | 1.2        | 9          | 11.0       | 17         | 20.7       | 37         | 45.1       | 18         | 22.0       | 0          |                 |
| 21 to 30                       | 1          | 2.8        | 4          | 11.1       | 11         | 30.6       | 17         | 47.2       | 3          | 8.3        | 0          |                 |
| 31 & over                      | 2          | 6.3        | 2          | 6.3        | 13.        | 34.4       | 13         | 40.6       | Ц          | 12.5       | 0          |                 |

ERIC Provided by ERIC

TABLE IV

RANGE OF TOTAL SCORES AND PERCENTAGE ACCORDING TO GRADUATE HOURS COMPLETED

| Category   |        | F          | Range c    | of Total   | l Score    | es - Nur   | mber o     | f Perso    | ns and     | Per Cer            | ıt         |            |
|--|--------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|--------------------|------------|------------|
| Graduate Hours<br>Obtained Beyond the<br>Bachelor's Degree | 3.06 · | - 125<br>% | 126<br>No. | - 145<br>% | 146<br>No. | - 165<br>% | 166<br>No. | - 185<br>% | 186<br>No. | <b>- 2</b> 05<br>% | 206<br>No. | - 225<br>% |
| 0 to 15  | 5      | 2.9        | 9          | 5.2        | 51         | 29.5       | 75         | 43.4       | 32         | 18.5               | 1          | 0.6        |
| 16 to 30   | 2      | 3.1        | 9          | 14.1       | 16         | 25.0       | 28         | 43.8       | 9          | 14.1               | C          |            |
| 31 to 45   | 1      | 3.0        | 2          | 6.1        | 7          | 21.2       | 15         | 45.7       | 7          | 21.2               | 1          | 3.0        |
| 46 & over  | 0      |            | 1          | 3.6        | 8          | 28.6       | 12         | 42.9       | 6          | 21.4               | 1          | 3.6        |

ERIC Full tiest Provided by ERIC

Table V is somewhat different than the remaining tables due to a different range of responses for this sub-group dealing with changes in society and our need for support of continuing education programs to keep up with these changes. Respondents 51 years of age and over felt less inclined to support continuing education and were generally less aware of changes in society than those persons who were younger. The two younger age groups are almost equally divided in their responses for the two highest response categories.

The amount of experience a respondent had in the public schools was negatively related to the highest scores for subgroup four. The two groups having 20 years or less experience scored from 3.9 to 20.7 per cent above their older counterparts in the two top range of scores. The two groups with the least teaching experience had 37.7 per cent of their responses in the two highest score areas while the most experienced groups had 25.4 per cent.

The number of hours held beyond the bachelor's degree also related to high scores. Persons with 31 hours or beyond had 48.9 per cent of their answers in the two highest score areas, while those with 30 or less hours had only 29.7 per cent in the two top score ranges. These comparisons can be found in Table V.

Table VI illustrates the effect age has on sub-groups one, two and three. All age levels scored lower on sub-group one, adult and continuing education, than on either of the other two areas. The concepts of adult and continuing education appear to

TABLE V

COMPARISON OF SUB-GROUP FOUR SCORES\* WITH AGE, EXPERIENCE AND HOURS COMPLETED

| Categories  |           |      | æ         | Range o | of Sco    | res -       | Number    | of   | Persons                                 | pue  | Per (     | Cent |           |      |
|---|-----------|------|-----------|---------|-----------|-------------|-----------|------|---|------|-----------|------|-----------|------|
| Age in Years  | 12<br>No. | - 16 | 17<br>No. | - 2].   | 22<br>No. | - 26        | 27<br>No. | - 31 | 32<br>No.                               | - 36 | 37<br>No. | - 41 | 42<br>No. | - 45 |
| 20 to 35  | 0         | •    | 2         | 5.3     | 12        | 12.8        | 25        | 26.5 | 18                                      | 19.1 | 22        | 23.4 | 12        | 12.8 |
| 36 to 50  | 0         |      | 9         | 6.9     | <b>∞</b>  | 6.3         | 21        | 24.4 | 20                                      | 23.3 | 13        | 22.1 | 12        | 14.0 |
| 51 & over   | 2         | 1.7  | 1t        | 11.9    | ∞         | 8.9         | 0h        | 34.2 | 17                                      | 14.5 | 25        | 21.4 | 11        | h.6  |
| Years of Teaching<br>Experience   |           |      |           |         |           |             |           |      |   |      |           |      |           |      |
| 0 to 10   | 0         |      | 9         | 4.1     | 15        | 10.1        | ##        | 29.7 | 3.1                                     | 20.9 | 31        | 23.0 | 18        | 12.2 |
| 11 to 20  | <u>~</u>  | 1.2  | 9         | 7.3     | 9         | 7.3         | 21        | 25.6 | 15                                      | 18.3 | 21        | 25.6 | 12        | 14.6 |
| 21 to 30  | 0 .       |      | 8         | 22.2    | <b>.</b>  | 11.1        | 11        | 30.6 | 9                                       | 16.7 | S         | 13.9 | 2         | 5.6  |
| 31 & over   | <u>.</u>  | 3.1  | S         | 15.6    | ന         | <b>р.</b> 6 | 10        | 31.3 | m                                       | ከ•6  | ^         | 21.9 | ന         | h. 6 |
| والمراجعة والمسترين والمستران والمراجعة والمراجعة والمستراء والمستراء والمراجعة والمراجعة والمراجعة |           |      | A         |         |           |             | L         |      | *************************************** |      |           |      |           |      |

TABLE V (continued)

| Categories                            |                  | 2         | ange o           | f Sco     | res -   | Numbe     | r of F   | erso      | Range of Scores - Number of Persons and Per Cent | Per (     | ent              |          |                  |
|---------------------------------------|------------------|-----------|------------------|-----------|---------|-----------|----------|-----------|--|-----------|------------------|----------|------------------|
| Graduate Hours<br>Obtained Beyond the | 12 - 16<br>No. % | 17<br>No. | 17 - 21<br>40. % | 22<br>No. | - 26    | 27<br>No. | - 31     | 32<br>No. | 32 - 36<br>No. %                                 | 37<br>No. | 37 - 41<br>No. % |          | 42 - 45<br>No. % |
| Bachelor's Degree                     |                  |           |                  |           |         |           |          |           |  |           |                  |          |                  |
| 0 to 15                               | 2 1.2            | 10        | 5.8              | 1.5       | 8.7     | 51        | 29.5     | t1        | 41 23.7  | 39        | 39 22.5          | 15       | 8.7              |
| 16 to 30                              | ·.<br>0          | 11        | 17.2             | 7         | 10.9    | 22        | 94.4     | 9         | h. 6   | 6         | 14.1             | თ        | 14.1             |
| 31 to 45                              | 0                | 2         | 6.1              | <u>~</u>  | r.<br>6 | ∞         | 2 ti - 2 | ന         | 9.1  | 1.0       | 30.3             | 7        | 21.2             |
| 46 & over                             | 0                | 2         | 7.1              | m<br>     | 10.7    | ٦ċ        | 17.9     | S         | 17.9   | 6         | 32.1             | <b>=</b> | 14.3             |
|                                       |                  |           |                  |           |         |           |          |           |  |           |                  |          |                  |

\* Sub-group four is concerned with the changes which are occurring in society and the need for support of continuing education programs to deal with these changes.

COMPARISONS OF SUB-GROUPS ONE, TWO AND THREE\* ACCORDING TO AGE TABLE VI

| Category     | 4.0      |           |             | R         | Range o      | of Sec     | Scores - 1  | Number    | o.fe      | Persons    | and       | Per (     | Cent      |           |         |
|--------------|----------|-----------|-------------|-----------|--------------|------------|-------------|-----------|-----------|------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---------|
| Age in Years | Group    | 15<br>No. | - 25<br>- % | 23<br>No. | - 30<br>- %  | 33.<br>Nc. | - 38<br>- % | 39<br>No. | %<br>9h - | ιι7<br>No. | %<br>- 54 | 55<br>No. | - 62<br>% | 63<br>No. | %       |
| 20 to 35     | ٦        | 2         | 2.1         | 15        | 16.0         | 24         | 25.5        | 35        | 37.2      | 15         | 16.0      | m         | 3.2       | 0         |         |
|              | <b>∾</b> | 0         |             | 0         |              | #          | t,3         | 20        | 21.3      | 8+         | 51.1      | 20        | 21.3      | 2         | 2.1     |
|              | m        | 0         | -           | ~         | 2.1          | 9          | <b>≒</b> 9  | 17        | 18.1      | #<br>#     | 43.6      | 27        | 28.7      | H         | 1.1     |
| 36 to 50     | 1        | 3         | 3.5         | 7         | 8.1          | 28         | 32.6        | 25        | 29.1      | 1.3        | 20.9      | Ω.        | 5.8       | 0         |         |
| •            | 2        | 0         |             | ű         |              | ĸ          | 3,5         | 25        | 29.1      | 42         | 8.81      | 15        | 17.4      | ч         | 1.2     |
|              | C        | 0         |             | 0         |              | 3.0        | 11.6        | 27        | 31.4      | 29         | 33.7      | 17        | 19.8      | ю         | 3.5     |
| 53. & over   | H        | 2/        | 1.7         | 6         | 7.7          | 27         | 23,1        | 34        | 29.1      | 38         | 32.5      | ^         | 0.9       | 0         |         |
|              | 2        | ٦         | 6.          | 2         | 1.7          | ω          | 8.9         | 37        | 31.6      | 48         | 41.0      | 50        | 17.1      | М         | ڻ.<br>• |
| •            | ω .      |           |             | S         | н <b>.</b> 3 | 7.14       | 12.0        | 27        | 23.1      | 45         | 38.5      | 22        | 18.8      | <b>ઝ</b>  | Э.ц     |

\* Sub-group one deals with concepts of adult and continuing education. Sub-group two concerns the learning processes. Sub-group three includes attitudes about motivation and readiness of children for vocational and continuing education concepts.

be lacking in all age groups to a greater degree than do the concepts of sub-groups two and three. Area three, attitudes about motivation and readiness, had the largest percentage of respondents in the top range of scores. Less difference in percentage can be noted between sub-groups two and three than between sub-group one and either of the other two sub-groups.

The number of years of experience showed less effect on subgroup one than it did on two and three. Adult and continuing
education concepts were least affected by experience, but experience did play a more significant part in the responses to the
learning process and motivation and readiness for continuing and
vocational education concepts. Teachers felt more strongly that
they understood the learning process and were ready to consider
vocational and continuing education concepts in their elementary
schools than they did about adult and continuing education concepts
as shown in Table VII.

The number of hours held by elementary personnel beyond the bachelor's degree had less effect on their attitude toward subgroup one than it did toward either of the other areas. Those persons with 46 hours and over appeared to favor most strongly the areas of learning and also readiness for continuing and vocational education concepts in the elementary schools. They were less familiar with the concepts tested in sub-group one-adult and continuing education. Table VIII shows the difference evident between sub-group one and sub-groups two and three for the various graduate hours completed by respondents.



TABLE VII

ERIC

Full Text Provided by ERIC

COMPARISONS OF SUB-GROUPS ONE, TWO AND THREE \* ACCORDING TO EXPERIENCE

| sars of Teach- Grag Experience |           |      | ×         | Range of |           | Scores -  | Number    | O.f.      | Persons    | สกตั | Per (     | Cent |     |      |
|--------------------------------|-----------|------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|------------|------|-----------|------|-----|------|
| 0.7                            | 15<br>No. | - 22 | 23<br>No. | 30 %     | 31<br>No. | * 38<br>* | 39<br>No. | - 46<br>% | 1;7<br>No. | 54   | 55<br>No. | - 62 | No. | 63 % |
| T 01 01 0                      | ຕ         | 2.0  | 76        | 10.8     | htı       | 29.7      | Stı       | 32.ц      | 32         | 21.6 | 5         | 3.4  | 0   |      |
| 2                              | 0         |      | 0         |          | S         | 3.4       | th3       | 29.1      | 89         | u5.9 | 29        | 19.6 | ო   | 2.0  |
| 3                              | 0         |      | 2         | 1.4      | 17        | 7.4       | 31;       | 23.0      | 59         | 39.9 | 04        | 27.0 | ~   | J. 4 |
| 11 to 20                       | 2         | 2°:  | 6         | 11.0     | 17        | 20.7      | 32        | 39.0      | 17         | 20.7 | 5.        | 6.1  | 0   |      |
| 2                              | ,0        | -    | ٦         | 1.2      | <b></b>   | 6* 11     | 20        | 4. 4S     | th,        | 50.0 | 15        | 18.3 | ri  | 1.2  |
| £ .                            | 0         |      | ന         | 3.7      | 10        | 12.2      | 16        | 19.5      | 37         | 45.1 | 14        | 17.1 | 2   | 2.4  |
| 21 to 30 1                     | Т         | 2.8  | 2         | 13.9     | ∞ .       | 22.2      | Ø         | 22.2      | 12         | 33.3 | 2         | 5.6  | 0   |      |
| 2                              | ٥         |      | ~         | 2.8      | 2         | 5.6       | 12        | 33.3      | 17         | 47.2 | <b>.</b>  | 11.1 | 0   |      |
| 3                              | 0 .       |      | 0         |          | 5         | 13.9      | ω         | 22.2      | 13         | 36.1 | œ         | 22.2 | 2   | 5.6  |
| 31 & over                      | т         | 3,1, | T         | 3.1      | 10        | 31.3      |           | 21.9      | 10         | 31.3 | 3         | h.0  | 0   |      |
| 2                              | <b>-</b>  | 3.1  | 0         |          | <b>#</b>  | 12.5      | 7         | 21.9      | 12         | 37.5 | ω         | 25.0 | 0   |      |
| 3                              | 0         |      | 2         | 6.3      | ੜ         | 12.5      | 13        | 40.6      | 9          | 18.8 | 2         | 15.6 | ~   | 6.3  |

Sub-group one deals with concepts of adult and continuing education. Sub-group two concerns the learning processes. Sub-group three includes attitudes about motivation and readiness of children of for vocational and continuing education concepts. \*

TABLE VIII

ERIC

Full Text Provided by ERIC

COMPARISONS OF SUB-GROUPS ONE, TWO AND THREE\* ACCORDING TO GRADUATE HOURS COMPLETED

| Category   | S. A.      |           |             |           | Range o | of Sco    | res -                      | Number    | بن<br>0          | Persons   | and   | Per (     | Cent      |            |          |
|--|------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|---------|-----------|----------------------------|-----------|------------------|-----------|-------|-----------|-----------|------------|----------|
| Graduate Hours<br>Obtained Beyond<br>Bachelor's Degree | _ <u>U</u> | 15<br>No. | - 22<br>- % | 23<br>No. | 30 %    | 31<br>No. | 1<br>8<br>8<br>8<br>8<br>8 | 39<br>No. | %<br>1<br>1<br>1 | th<br>No. | 1 2th | 55<br>No. | - 62<br>- | No.        | 63 %     |
| 0 to 15  | J          | 3         | 1.7         | 23        | 13.3    | 50        | 28.9                       | 55        | 31.8             | 37        | 21.4  | 2         | 2.9       | 0          |          |
|  | 2          | 0         |             | 7         | 9.      | 6         | 5.2                        | 911       | 26.6             | 86        | 49.7  | 30        | 17.3      |            | 9.       |
|  | m          | 0         | •           | m         | 1.7     | 3.6       | 6.3                        | 33        | 1.9.1            | 92        | 0°Eh  | 42        | 24.3      | ന          | 1.7      |
| 16 to 30   | 7          | J         | 1.6         | 3         | 4.7     | 20        | 31.3                       | 7:4       | 21.9             | 20        | 31.3  | ပ         | h.6       | 0          |          |
|  | ~          | <b>н</b>  | 1.6         | -         | 1.6     | #         | 6.3                        | 23        | 35.9             | ħ2        | 37.5  | 10        | 15.6      | ч          | 1.6      |
|  | m          | 0         |             | ന         | 4.7     | 70        | 1.5.6                      | 18        | 28.1             | 22        | 34.4  | 5         | 14.1      | 2          | ر.<br>د. |
| 31 to 45   | ٦          | 0         |             | #         | 12.1    | 5         | 1.5.2                      | 12        | 36.4             | 6         | 27.3  | m         | 9.1       | 0          |          |
|  | 2          | 0         |             | 0         |         | 2         | 6.1                        | 9         | 18.2             | 17        | 51.5  | 7         | 21.2      | <b>~</b> i | 3.0      |
|  | Э          | 0         |             | J         | 3.0     | 2         | 6.1                        | 12        | 36 tı            | 3.1       | 33.3  | 9         | 18.2      | Т          | 3.0      |
| 46 & over  | ٦          | က         | 10.7        | ı         | 3,6     | #         | 14.3                       | 14        | 50.0             | 5         | 17.9  | τ         | 3.6       | 0          |          |
|  | ·<br>N     | 0         | •           | 0         |         | 0         |                            | 7         | 25.0             | 11        | 39.3  | 6         | 32.1      | ~          | 3.6      |
|  | m          | .0        |             | 0         |         | ~         | 7.                         | co        | 28.6             | 9         | 21.4  | 30        | 35.7      | N          | 7.1      |

Sub-group one deals with concepts of adult and continuing education. Sub-group two converns the learning processes. Sub-group three includes attitudes about motivation and readiness of children for vocational and continuing education concepts.

#### CHAPTER IV

#### PROCEDURE AND RESULTS OF THE EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

This chapter was designed to describe the procedure used to select participants for inclusion in the experimental follow-up study of attitudinal change; the two differing approaches used in attempting to change adult attitudes; and the results of the experiments in changing adult attitudes.

### Selection of Experiment Participants

The preceding chapter explained the procedure followed in the initial stages of the experimental design; that of working with 298 public school elementary personnel to establish the attitudes which existed toward the concepts tested in this adult attitude scale. After these returns were tabulated, mean scores and standard deviations were determined through statistical analysis by computer. This procedure established a complete range of scores for all respondents, which were then further broken down into responses from persons in Laramie and Albany counties.

To select respondents which might receive the most benefit from the experimental study, it was decided to include those who scored outside the limits of one standard deviation (19.0) below the mean score (169.9). Through this procedure it was determined that eight persons in Albany County and 42 in Laramie County had scores at the extreme lower limits of the attitude scale.



Further consideration was then given to the benefits which would result from also working with the top scoring group of respondents whose scores were one standard deviation (19.0) above the mean (169.9). By including these persons, several additional comparisons were feasible concerning low- and high-scoring responses; can adult attitudes be changed significantly with low-scoring and/or with high-scoring respondents? Was there a significant difference between the growth shown by low respondents and that shown by high respondents? Was there a significant difference between the experimental approaches used with the low groups, or with the high-scoring groups? Did either experimental method appear to be significantly superior to the other in the overall growth shown by total groups from either county?

After consultation with authorities in adult education and statistics, it was determined that the inclusion of both groups would bring the greatest degree of flexibility and significance to the study. For this reason both groups were included.

With the addition of the top respondents, 15 persons were added in Albany County making a total of 23 to be included in the experiment. Thirty-three additional Laramie County personnel were identified making a total of 75 to be contacted for the experiment.

The Albany County persons were called by telephone asking them to participate in the follow-up study. It was explained that they would be requested to attend two after-school sessions of approximately one and one-half hours each to view the film, "To Touch A Child," hear a lecture by an authority in the field of

adult education, and hold discussions in a small group situation.
Out of this group of 23 persons, 18 (79 per cent) indicated they
would participate. From this group 12 (67 per cent) actually came
to the sessions and completed the experiment. These twelve included
five persons in the lower-scoring range, and seven in the high range.

Laramie County personnel were asked to participate in the follow-up study with a personal letter and post card (Appendix B, page 25) which they were asked to return indicating their willingness or unwillingness to participate in this project. Out of 75 persons asked, 53 (70 per cent) indicated they were willing to do so. Twenty-nine (54 per cent) actually did follow the directions and completed the experiment satisfactorily so that the comparisons could be made. The 29 included 18 in the lower-scoring range and eleven in the high.

# · Design of the Experiment

Two sessions were conducted by the writer with the twelve
Albany County elementary personnel. Both sessions were held at
Thayer School in Laramie, Wyoming, with the consent of the school's
principal and the Laramie, Wyoming superintendent of schools.

Session one included a combination lecture and small group discussion conducted by Dr. Glenn S. Jensen, Chairman, Department of Adult Education and Instructional Services for the College of Education at the University of Wyoming. Dr. Jensen's lecture, and the group discussion, centered on the same basic materials which were mailed to the Laramie County personnel (Appendix B, page 85) for study. During this informal session, participants



were encouraged to ask questions and clarify any areas that were unclear in their thinking concerning the lecture, the attitude scale, or any concepts related to it. This they apparently did, judging from the outward enthusiasm shown.

Session two was conducted by the writer, using small group discussion after the group had viewed the film "To Touch A Child."

Judging again from outward appearances, the group members were deeply concerned about the questions raised in the film, as well as by other members of the group. This session dealt with the further concerns which they expressed and which were outlined in the written materials they received in the first session. These written materials were exactly the same as those sent to all Laramie County participants. This group disbanded after completing the adult attitude scale and returning it to the writer.

The Laramie County personnel that participated in the followup experiment were not involved in any structured small group discussions, nor did they see the film "To Touch A Child" used in the
Albany County experiment. Every attempt was made to provide the
same basic materials to both Laramie and Albany county groups,
and the time spent in the experiment was approximated as closely
as possible. Materials were gathered by the writer from authors
and authorities in the field dealing with the four basic areas
of interest tested in sub-groups one through four on the attitude
scale. Also sent to the Laramie County participants was a written
copy of the film, "To Touch A Child." These materials were printed and sent at approximately ten-day intervals. Included with the

final send-out of materials was another copy of the attitude scale to be returned for scoring and inclusion in the results of the experiment.

## Results of the Experiment

Upon the return of all adult attitude scales, the writer again consulted with members of the department of statistics in the College of Commerce and Industry to determine the appropriate statistical methods to be followed in analyzing the experimental data. Two basic comparisons were decided upon, one using the "double-tailed T test" and the other the "T test."

The computer cards used in the initial run of data on all 298 respondents were sorted to locate the respondents participating in the follow-up studies in both counties. Second cards were then punched for each participant listing final responses to the adult attitude scale. Responses were then computed from both card one, representing the initial data, and card two, representing the changes which occurred during the experiment. The same computer program was used for these responses as had been run on the initial 298 respondents. Valid and reliable comparisons were in this way expected.

To these comparisons, the previously mentioned tests were applied. The statistical comparisons made were based on the following formulas: (the alpha level was used for all comparisons)

To compare sub-groups or total scores using the results of two analysis on each individual, a "paired-T test" was administered. The formula used was:

$$t_{n-1} = \frac{\bar{d}}{Sc/\sqrt{n}}$$

When d = mean of the differences

When n = number of observations

To compare changes between groups, a "T test" was administered. The formula used was:

$$t_{n-r} = \frac{\hat{L} - L_0}{\sqrt{\frac{r \mathcal{E}}{j=1} \left(\frac{C^2 j}{N j}\right)}}$$

Where 
$$L = \hat{L} = C_1 \bar{X} \cdot_1 + C_2 \bar{X} \cdot_2 + \cdots + C_r \bar{X} \cdot_r$$

C; 's are constants

 $MS_{W}$  = Mean Squares Within from Analysis of Variance

To determine the degree of significance, the .05 level of confidence was established as satisfactory by the writer in consultation with statisticians. This level of significance was used throughout the project, and was assumed in the following statements.

## Changes Within Sub-Groups

All groups averaged higher scores on the sub-group totals and the total score as tested by the attitude scale after completing the experimental study. Table IX illustrates the changes made by each experimental group for the sub-groups tested by the attitude scale as well as the total change in score.

Each group improved in its awareness of the concepts tested to a significant degree on total scores. Both methods for the dissemination of materials were significantly effective in working with low and high groups when total scores were considered. Both



TABLE IX

ERIC Foulded by ERIC

NUMBER AND SIGNIFICANCE OF CHANGES\* BY SUB-GROUP AND TOTAL SCORES

| Category   |     |  | Attitu         | Attitude Scale Sub-Group Number | ub-Grou | ıp Number  |     | •       | Attit<br>Tot | Attitude Scale<br>Total Score |
|--|-----|--|----------------|---------------------------------|---------|------------|-----|---------|--------------|-------------------------------|
| And the few lates of th |     | And the second s |                | 2                               |         | 3          |     | #       |              |                               |
|  | No. | signif.  | No.            | Signif.                         | No.     | Signif.    | No. | Signif. | No.          | Signif.                       |
| Laramie County<br>(Low)  | 8   | Yes  | 3.0            | Yes                             | 9       | No         | 13  | Yes     | #5<br>       | Yes                           |
| Albany County<br>(Low)   | Ŋ   | O  | 9              | Yes                             | 72      | Yes        | J.4 | Yes     | 040          | Yes                           |
| Laramie County<br>(High)   | C)  | No   | ٦ <sup>`</sup> | NO<br>ON                        | m<br>   | No.        | ~   | SO.     | ∞            | Yes                           |
| Albany County  | ~~  | No   | <b>∾</b>       | No                              | m       | No         | ~   | N<br>0  | 11           | Yes                           |
| (hgth)   |     |  |                |                                 |         | <b>#</b> * |     |         | -            |                               |

\* Numbers indicate the average total points gained by each group. Yes or No indicates whether change in total points was significant at the .05 level of confidence.

methods were also effective when working with the lowest-scoring groups of respondents with two exceptions: the small group instruction method was not effective in changing attitudes toward adult and continuing education (sub-group 1) with the Albany County participants to a significant degree; and the materials sent out with no personal contact were not effective enough to significantly change attitudes with the Laramie County personnel in the area of motivation and readiness (sub-group 3). The other total of six sub-groups were changed significantly using both experimental methods.

A very different situation tended to exist in the findings for the high group of participants in the experimental study. While there was a significant change in total scores for both high groups using both experimental methods, no significant changes were made in any sub-groups using either method. Changes did occur which resulted in higher numerical scores for all sub-groups of the high respondents, but they were at a non-significant level. From this experiment, and the conclusions which can be drawn from it, the lower-scoring respondents gained the greatest amount in the sub-groups using both experimental methods. While all the groups gained significantly in total scores, neither method proved to be significantly effective in changing sub-group scores for the high-scoring respondents.

## Changes Between Sub-Groups

While positive changes did occur in the total number of points scored in all sub-groups and in all total scores, no significant

differences were evident between any of the sub-group or total scores when comparing respondents with low scores in Laramie and Albany counties or when comparing those with high scores in Laramie and Albany counties. The differences in the experimental approach used affected total scores. The low-scoring group in Laramie County exceeded the total average scores of the low-scoring group in Albany County by two points. This was not a significant difference. The high Albany County participants, however, exceeded the high Laramie County persons in total average scores by three points. This too was not a difference of significance.

One additional comparison was made using these data. That was a comparison of the total low scores for both counties compared to the total high scores to find if a significant degree of difference had occurred. A "T test" indicated that the differences found between these groups was not significant at the .05 level.

While no tests were administered to determine the additional total number of points which might have been accumulated by "practice" or from the "Hawthorne Effect" by simply retaking the same test, the assumption was made that the degree of change would have been minor and insignificant.

## Changes Between Experimental Methods

Perhaps the most important consideration to be gained from this experiment concerned the method which was most effective in bringing about total change in responses, considering all subgroups as well as total scores. To obtain this comparison, the

total change showed by all Laramie County personnel in all subgroups as well as in total scores was compared to that same change
shown by all Albany County personnel through an analysis of
variance to which a "T test" was applied.

The results of this analysis indicated that both experimental approaches used were significantly effective in bringing about desired changes in adult attitudes. While it was not possible to know the amount of time spent by Laramie County participants in reading, studying and assimilating the materials sent to them by mail, it was assumed that a total time of three hours was a reasonable expectation. For this reason the Albany County groups were also limited to approximately three hours of lecture and discussion. The results of the experimental comparison indicated that although individual changes were significant, they were not equal. The changes which occurred through the small group discussion method used in Albany County were enough greater that they were considered significant at the .05 level. The change in total scores would not have occurred by chance when compared to the Laramie County experimental procedure.

#### CHAPTER V

## SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### SUMMARY

### The Problem

The major purposes of the present project were two-fold. They were (1) to determine the attitudes which elementary public school teachers and administrators held toward education as a continuing and lifelong process, and (2) to determine if adult attitudes could be isolated, tested, and changed to encompass new concepts using two differing experimental approaches.

### Importance of the Problem

Educational leaders have stated repeatedly the need for understanding the concepts of continuing education by young people.

Public education must prepare its people for lifelong learning before they leave the schools. Teachers must be made aware that changes in education are imperative for our times. They, as educational leaders, must be personally involved in education as a lifetime goal as well as an occupation. No attempt had been made to isolate attitudes of elementary personnel, and it was not known if teachers felt any obligation to begin instilling continuing education concepts in elementary school students. It had not been determined if elementary personnel were participating in continuing education programs.

# Procedure

Through the cooperation of the Wyoming State Department of Education, 455 full-time elementary school personnel were identified in Albany and Laramie counties. Copies of an adult attitude scale, which had previously been developed and tested were sent to all 455 personnel requesting their participation in this study. Of the 455 attitude scales mailed, 344 were returned and 298 were found usable. The responses from this sample provided the initial data used in the study. From these participants, 88 were asked to take part in the experimental study, of which 41 persons completed the experiment so that comparisons could be made.

All of the experimental information was coded and punched on International Business Machine cards, as was the initial data for 298 participants. To insure accuracy the tabulations of the totals, means, variances and standard deviations were determined by the Philoo 2000 computer. The data were then submitted to one of two appropriate tests, the "double-tailed T" or the "T test." This was done to determine the degree of change and its significance, if any.

# Summary of Findings

Although a great deal of data were tabulated and processed, only the more pertinent information was consolidated in this summary.

Responses from Initial Data. Two hundred and forty-two respondents (81 per cent) had completed continuing education courses between 1955 and 1967. Their total scores on the attitude scale

averaged 171 compared to an average score of 163 for 56 respondents (19 per cent) who had not completed a course. This was a significant difference at the .05 level. Most of the respondents, 188 (78 per cent), took continuing education courses for credit; 40 persons (16 per cent) had taken them for a combination of reasons, both credit and non-credit; and 14 (6 per cent) had taken only non-credit courses. Ninety-four respondents (40 per cent) took continuing education courses to satisfy a professional requirement, 47 (20 per cent) wanted to strengthen their teaching, 44 (18 per cent) to complete a degree, 43 (17 per cent) to satisfy a personal need, and 14 respondents (6 per cent) took courses to advance on the salary schedule.

Most respondents, 161 (67 per cent) felt the responsibility for continuing education programs should rest with colleges and universities. Only 54 (22 per cent) favored the public schools, 12 (5 per cent) said junior or community colleges, 7 (3 per cent) said business and industry, and 8 respondents (3 per cent) indicated other agencies should be involved.

No significant difference in total scores appeared between Wyoming and non-Wyoming graduates on this attitude scale.

The highest average sub-group scores appeared in sub-group two pertaining to the learning processes. The next lower areas in descending order were sub-groups three dealing with readiness and motivation to accept continuing and vocational concepts, group four concerning changes in society and the support of continuing

education, and the lowest were in group one concerning adult and continuing education concepts.

Three categories were established on which to base further comparisons. These were age, experience and hours completed beyond the bachelor's degree. The younger age groups (under 50 years) recorded the highest total scores, as did those with less than 20 years of teaching experience. The highest scores were also obtained by persons with the greatest number of hours beyond the bachelor's degree.

Change in Experimental Groups. Forty-one participants from Albany (12) and Laramie (29) counties completed the experiment in changing adult attitudes. In Albany County the group met in two sessions with a film, lecture and small group discussions. In Laramie County the participants received the same materials presented in Albany County, but in written form only. No discussions were held, and the film material distributed was in written form rather than through actual viewing. Every attempt was made to present the same materials to both groups and to make equal the time spent in actual study and assimilation of the materials.

Upon completion of the final adult attitude scale, statistical comparisons were obtained by using the "T and double-tailed T tests." The .05 level of confidence was established as significant for this experiment.

Each experimental group averaged higher scores on all subgroup totals as well as the total score when tested by the attitude

ERIC Full Text Provided by ERIC

scale after completing the experimental study. Each group improved in their awareness of the concepts tested to a significant degree on total scores.

Six of the sub-groups areas showed significant changes in scores for the two low-scoring groups of respondents. The Albany County group showed no significant change in sub-group one while the Laramie County personnel did not change significantly in sub-group three. The high groups made growth in total points scored in all sub-groups, but the changes were not judged significant. Only the changes in total scores for these persons were at a significant level.

Both methods of disseminating information about the concepts tested on the attitude scale were significantly effective in changing total scores of both low and high groups. Neither method was judged more effective than the other when comparing changes made between low groups or between high groups. When, however, the total changes made by all Albany County experiment participants were compared with changes made in Laramie County, there was a significant difference. The Albany County method of small group discussion produced a significantly greater change in total scores than did the Laramie County method of mailed information.

#### CONCLUSIONS

As a result of the data obtained and the information analyzed, the following conclusions appear justified:

1. The adult attitude scale developed for this project appeared to satisfactorily measure elementary school

- personnel attitudes toward the continuing education concepts in the scale.
- 2. Attitudés of elementary personnel can be determined and isolated concerning specific concepts.
- 3. Group discussion, lecture and audio-visual aids as a combined technique provided the greatest significant change in elementary personnel attitudes.
- 4. The dissemination of written materials did bring about a significant change in attitudes, but to a lesser degree of significance than the group methods.
- 5. Attitudes of both low- and high-scoring participants were significantly changed on total points scored.
- 6. Significant changes were brought about in most sub-group areas for low-scoring personnel by both experimental methods. No changes of significance were recorded in sub-groups for high-scoring personnel by either experimental method.
- 7. Those who had been continuing education participants recorded significantly higher scores than those who had not participated.
- 8. Most continuing education participants were involved in work to satisfy a professional requirement.
- 9. Elementary personnel generally appeared willing to introduce the concepts concerning vocational and continuing education to their students.
- 10. Project participants appeared to be least familiar with

the concepts concerning adult and continuing education, and those dealing with changes occurring in society and the need to support continuing education as tested by the attitude scale.

11. Younger teachers with a lesser number of years in the classroom appeared to be most familiar with the concepts in this attitude scale. A greater number of graduate hours above the bachelor's degree generally indicated higher attitude scale scores.

## RECOMMENDATIONS

On the basis of the findings reported in this project and the conclusions reached, the following recommendations appear justified:

- 1. Elementary school personnel need to be made aware of the vital and unique role elementary schools can play in developing the concepts of continuing education with young people.
- 2. The public schools must become more deeply committed to the cause of continuing education for both its young students and the adults in the communities served.
- 3. Specific in-service programs should be established to acquaint all school personnel with the role they can play in creating a school atmosphere where a "love to learn" prevails and carries throughout the student's lifetime.
- 4. The University of Wyoming and other colleges and universities should introduce specific study areas dealing with

continuing education on the undergraduate level. All students must leave with an awareness of our changing society and the significance of continuing education programs to prepare all citizens for these changes.

- 5. Studies should be conducted to determine what effect changes in teacher attitudes have in the learning situations and ultimately the attitudes of children in that classroom.
- 6. Studies should be encouraged to determine the effect a change in teacher attitude has on behavioral change.
- 7. Research should be undertaken to determine effective methods now in use in elementary classrooms which introduce continuing education concepts to elementary children.
- 8. Further studies must be carried out in attitudes and attitude change of both students and teachers. Some areas to be considered should include:
  - a. using other methods than those used here to bring about attitude change such as TV, video-tape recorders and the effect of other audio-visual devices.
  - b. equating as closely as possible the size of groups as well as group structure with a larger number of participants.
  - c. including experiments with all levels of respondents, not limited to high- or low-scoring participants.
  - d. experiments with longer or shorter sessions, more sessions with various techniques and devices used to

ERIC

bring about attitude change.

- 9. A follow-up study should be conducted to determine the permanence of attitude change in the experimental participants or in any other short-term studies of this nature.
- 10. A state-wide program must be undertaken by the State Department of Education and the University of Wyoming to bring
  about greater understanding and support for continuing education programs, and how these concepts would be most
  effectively introduced in the formative school years.
- 11. The apportionment of state support for general adult and continuing education should be made on the same basis as that used for apportioning other state support for education.
- 12. The discussion technique should be more extensively used in working with adults, whether elementary personnel or other appropriate persons.
- 13. Concepts concerning continuing education can be developed by either method tested, but the lecture-discussion method is preferable in all cases.
- 14. One basic objective for elementary instruction must be the development of a "love to learn" which will carry throughout the lifetime of all students.



SELECTED REFERENCES



# SELECTED REFERENCES

- Bateman, Richard M. and H.H. Remmers, "The Relationship of Pupil Attitudes Toward Social Topics Before and After Studying the Subjects," <u>Studies in Higher Education</u>, Vol. 27, No. 4, 1936.
- Beal, George M. and Joe M. Bohlen, "The Diffusion Process," Ames: Iowa State College Special Report, No. 18, 1957.
- 3. Birnbaum, Max, "Mind and Emotion in Adult Education," Adult Education, Vol. 7, No. 3, Spring, 1957.
- 4. Blake, Robert and Wayne Dennis, "The Development of Stereotypes Concerning the Negro," <u>Journal of Abnormal and</u> <u>Social Psychology</u>, Vol. 38, 1943.
- 5. Bruner, Edmund deS., and Others, <u>An Overview of Adult Education Research</u>. Chicago: Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1959.
- 6. Cartwright, Dorwin and Alvin Zander, Group Dynamics Research and Theory. New York: Row, Peterson and Co., 1960.
- 7. Cass, Angelica W., Adult Elementary Education. New York:
  Noble and Noble, 1956.
- 8. The Case for Adult Education. Washington, D.C.: National Association of Public School Adult Education, 1959.
- 9. Centers, Richard, <u>The Psychology of Social Classes</u>. Princeton:
  Princeton University Press, 1949.
- 10. Commission of the Professors of Adult Education, Adult Education, tion, A New Imperative for Our Times. Adult Education Association of the United States of America.
- ll. Edwards, Ralph, "The Development and Modification of the Elusive Attitude," in <u>The Educational Forum</u>, Vol. 28, No. 3, March, 1964.
- 12. Eichholz, Gerhard C., "Teachers Who Reject Change," in Education Digest, Vol. 29, No. 8, April, 1964.
- 13. French, Will and Associates, <u>Behavioral Goals of General</u>
  <u>Education in High School</u>. New York: Russell Sage
  Foundation, 1957.

ERIC

- 14. Glaser, Robert (Editor), Training Research and Education.
  Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1962.
- 15. Greenberg, Bradley S., "On Relating Attitude Change and Information Gain," <u>Journal of Communication</u>, Vol. 14, No. 3, September, 1964.
- 16. Greenwald, Anthony G., "Behavior Changes Following a Persuasive Communication," <u>Journal of Personality</u>, Vol. 33, No. 3, September, 1965.
- 17. Guilford, J.P., Fields of Psychology. New York: D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., 1950.
- 18. Hall, D.M., <u>Dynamics of Group Action</u>. Danville, Illinois: Interstate Press, 1960.
- 19. Hallenbeck, Wilbur C. and Others, Community and Adult Education. Chicago: Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1962.
- 20. Hansen, Kenneth H. and Others, <u>Cooperative Planning for</u>
  <u>Education in 1980</u>. Denver, Colorado: Designing
  <u>Education for the Future</u>: An Eight-State Project, 1968.
- 21. Hartke, Vance, "At the Edge of a Brave New World," Adult
  Leadership, Vol. 14, No. 4, October, 1955.
- 22. Havighurst, Robert J. and Hilda Taba, Adolescent Character and Personality. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1949.
- 23. Houle, Cyril and Others, The Armed Services and Adult Education. Washington: American Council on Education, 1947.
- 24. Hovland, Carl I. and Walter Weiss, "The Influence of Credibility on Communication Effectiveness," Public Opinion Quarterly, Vol. 25.
- 25. How To Teach Adults. Adult Education Association of the United States of America.
- 26. Jensen, Gale and Others, <u>Adult Education</u>. Chicago: Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1964.
- 27. Johnstone, John W.C. and Ramon J. Rivera, <u>Volunteers for</u>
  <u>Learning</u>. Chicago: Aldine Publishing Company, 1965.
- 28. Kerlinger, Fred N., "Educational Attitudes and Perceptions of Teachers: Suggestions for Teacher-Effectiveness Research," The School Review, Vol. 71, No. 1, Spring, 1963.



- 29. Kidd, J.R., <u>How Adults Learn</u>. New York: Association Press, 1959.
- 30. Knowles, Malcom S., Editor, <u>Handbook of Adult Education in</u>
  the United States. Chicago: Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1960.
- 31. Kuhlen, Raymond G., The Psychology of Adolescent Development.
  New York: Harper and Brothers, 1952.
- 32. Lee, Margie R., "Background Factors Related to Sex Information and Attitudes," <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, Vol. 43, 1952.
- 33. Lewin, Kurt, "Field Theory and Learning," in 41st Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education.
  Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1942.
- 34. \_\_\_\_, and Paul Grabble, "Conduct, Knowledge and Acceptance of New Value," <u>Journal of Sociology</u>, August, 1945.
- 35. Lorge, Irving and Others, <u>Psychology of Adults</u>. Chicago: Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1963.
- 36. McClusky, Howard Y., "The Responsibility of the Public School for Adult Education," Now--In Our Town, The Regional Committee on Adult Education of the American Association of School Administration; published jointly by the American Association of School Administrators, Washington, D.C., and the Institute of Adult Education, Teachers College, Columbia University, New York.
- 37. Newcomb, Theodore M., <u>Social Psychology</u>. New York: Dryden Press, 1950.
- 38. Osgood, Charles E., George J. Suci and Percy H. Tannenbaum,

  The Measurement of Meaning. Urbana, Illinois: University of Illinois Press, 1957.
- 39. Remmers, H.H., <u>Introduction to Opinion and Attitude Measure</u>-ment. New York: Harper and Brothers, 1954.
- 40. Robinson, Charles Otis, The Educational and Experimental

  Backgrounds of Adult Educators in the Mountain-Plains

  Region. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University
  of Wyoming, August, 1961.
- 41. Smith, H. Brewster, "The Personal Setting of Public Opinions:
  A Study of Attitudes Toward Russia," <u>Public Opinion and Propaganda</u>, D. Katz et al, (eds.), New York: The Dryden Press, 1954.



- 42. Smith, Henry P., <u>Psychology in Teaching</u>. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1956.
- 43. Spalding, Willard B. (Editor), The Dynamics of Planned Change. New York: Harcourt, Brace and Company, 1958.
- 44. Tuckman, L. and I. Lorge, "The Influence of a Course on the Psychology of Adults on Attitudes Toward Old People and Older Workers," <u>Journal of Education Psychology</u>, Vol. 43, 1952.
- 45. Verner, Coolie, A Conceptual Scheme for the Identification and Classification of Processes for Adult Education.

  Chicago: Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1962.
- 46. \_\_\_\_\_, and Others, <u>Participants in Adult Education</u>. Chicago:
  Adult Education Association of the United States of
  America, 1965.
- 47. Welch, John M. and Coolie Verner, A Study of Two Methods for the Diffusion of Knowledge. Chicago: Reprinted from Adult Education, Summer, 1962, Adult Education Association of the United States of America, 1962.
- 48. Weltman, Naomi and H.H. Remmers, "Pupils, Parents', and Teachers' Attitudes-Similarities and Differences,"
  Studies in Higher Education, Series 19, No. 56, 1946.

APPENDIX A





# THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING COLLEGE OF EDUCATION LARANTE, WYOMING 82070

ar Elementary Teacher or Administrator:

A department within the College of Education at the University of Wyoming is gloping an adult attitude scale with the cooperation of the State Department of cation. Your cooperation in completing the enclosed attitude scale and returning ROMPTLY will be appreciated. Please return this NO LATER than February 16, 1968.

Thank you,

ARTHUR W. BURRICHTER

Graduate Assistant

Room 306, College of Education

University of Wyoming

Laramie, Wyoming 82070

# PLEASE READ THE FOLLCHING INSTRUCTIONS CAREFULLY BEFORE BEGINNING!

is instrument is in two parts. The first part asks for your involvement at the present to in educational programs.

It is the attitude scale. The series of statements have been drawn from several pices. In marking this scale, please make your judgments on the basis of what these pings mean to you. Sometimes you may feel as though you've had the same item before the scale. This will not be the case, so do not look back and forth through the items. Not try to remember how you checked similar items earlier in the test. MAKE EACH ITEM SEPARATE AND INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT. Work at a fairly high speed through this scale. Do worry or puzzle over individual items. It is your first impressions, the immediate selings" about the items, that we want. On the other hand, please do not be careless, have we want your true impressions.

re is how you are to use these scales:

| •         |            |   | cept as sta<br>follows: |           |        | y true, or untrue, you should |              |            | 14       |
|-----------|------------|---|-------------------------|-----------|--------|-------------------------------|--------------|------------|----------|
| Strongly  | X<br>agree |   |                         | :<br>Unde | cided  | <b>:</b>                      |              | Strongly   | disagree |
| •         |            | • |                         |           | OR     |                               |              |            | •        |
| :Strongly | agree      | · |                         |           | cided: |                               | <del>*</del> | X Strongly | disagree |

you feel the concept as stated is not strong enough to "strongly agree" or "strongly sagree" with, you may check any of the other boxes which more nearly represents your ings. If you are not sure about the statement as it stands, you may put an X in "undecided" box.

DO NOT PUT YOUR NAME ON THESE MATERIALS

PLEASE TURN TO PART I

# PLEASE NOTE THE FOLLOWING DEFINITION!

| wits pursue that are part time. Three elements form this common basis: finished or non-creditation or non-creditation of the pursue that are part time. Three elements form this common basis: finished or non-creditation or | rst, purposefu<br>participates |
|---|--------------------------------|
| PLEASE PUT AN (X) IN THE MOST APPROPRIATE BLANK   |                                |
| In the past 3 years (1965-67) I have completed a continuing ed  | lucation course                |
| ?. The continuing education courses I have completed during the past 3 year   | s were for:                    |
| (1) credit, (2) non-credit, (3) combinations.   |                                |
| My main reason for participation in continuing education courses was:   |                                |
| a To advance on the salary schedule d To strengthen my t  | eaching                        |
| b To complete a degree e To satisfy a proference requirement, i.e.  | a minimum                      |
| c To satisfy a personal need number of hours to professional certification.   |                                |
| In my opinion, the responsibility for providing a program of continuing should rest mainly with:  | education                      |
| a Public schools d Business and industry  |                                |
| b Junior or Community colleges e Other (please specify)   | <u>.</u>                       |
| c Colleges or Universities  |                                |
| PART II   |                                |
| for each of the following statements please indicate with an ( X ) on the rather position which most nearly reflects your opinion or position regarding to  | iting scale the statement.     |
| l. It is nearly impossible to change adult attitudes after 45-50 years of a   | ige.                           |
| Strongly agree Undecided Stro   | : ongly disagree               |
| Lementary students (grades 1-6) are a little too young to become very about lifelong education.   | oncerned:                      |
| Strongly agree Undecided Stro   | : ongly disagree               |
| Lifelong learning of one sort or another is essential or obsolescence ta  | ikes over.                     |
| Strongly agree Undecided Stro   | : ongly disagree               |
|   |                                |

ERIC Prelitant Productive ERIC

| Passing a test<br>has occurred.      | over material st                     | udied or reciting                    | it back is e     | evidence that learning                |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|---------------------------------------|
| : :                                  | :                                    | ·:                                   | •                | : <u>:</u>                            |
| Strongly agree                       |                                      | Undecided                            |                  | Strongly disagree                     |
| 6. With advancing<br>materials or co | age it becomes i                     | ncreasingly diffic                   | ult to learn     | n new and unfamiliar                  |
| ::<br>Strongly agree                 | :                                    | Undecided                            |                  | Strongly disagree                     |
|                                      | an individual us                     | ually means he is                    | learning wel     | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |
| , nard work by                       |                                      |                                      | •                | : :                                   |
| Strongly agree                       |                                      | Undecided                            |                  | Strongly disagree                     |
| . Elementary schoworld of work.      | ool children (gra                    | des 1-6) should be                   | taught cert      | ain concepts about the                |
| :;                                   | <u></u> :                            | :::                                  |                  | Strongly disagree                     |
| Strongly agree                       |                                      | Undecided                            |                  |                                       |
| A few jobs required is "up to date"  | ire constant upd<br>with a high sch  | ating of skills whool or college edu | ile the majo     | ority of the population               |
| :;                                   |                                      |                                      | <u> </u>         | Strongly disagree                     |
| Strongly agree                       |                                      | Undecided                            |                  | <b>562082</b> 7 - 200                 |
| . A child's learr                    | ning is probably                     | more meaningful to                   | him than is      | e learning to an adult.               |
| Strongly agree                       |                                      | Undecided                            |                  | Strongly disagree                     |
| . Given adequate                     | motivation adult                     | s can master compl                   | ex tasks as      | well as younger learners.             |
| ::<br>Strongly agree                 | ·                                    | Undecided                            | •                | Strongly disagree                     |
|                                      | lity to develop s                    | kills and understa                   | nd concepts      | is generally less than                |
| ::<br>Strongly agree                 |                                      | Undecided                            | •_ <del></del> • | Strongly disagree                     |
| . Units or mater:<br>the elementary  | ials about lifeti<br>school. (grades | me occupations are<br>1-6)           | very approp      | oriately introduced in                |
| Canana las paras                     | ·                                    | Undecided:                           | ·                | Strongly disagree                     |
|                                      | est occurred when                    |                                      | use it in t      | unfamiliar or problem                 |
| situations.                          |                                      | ,                                    |                  | •                                     |
| Chuonolis                            |                                      | Undecided                            | <u></u> •        | Strongly disagree                     |
| Strongly agree                       |                                      | 0110001000                           |                  |                                       |

ERIC Full Treat Provided by ERIC

| Adults can l                                    | learn as eas               | sily as the                            | "younger set"                     | even though the                       | e rate may be different.     |
|---|----------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| :   | •                          | :                                      | :                                 | :                                     | ·<br>: :                     |
| Strongly agre                                   | e                          | ************************************** | Undecided                         | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | Strongly disagree            |
| j. Learning car                                 | occasional                 | lly be "fun                            | " but is usual                    | ly pretty seriou                      | us business.                 |
| :Strongly agre                                  | ::                         | _:                                     | Undecided                         | ::                                    | Strongly disagree            |
|   | t seems, th                | - <del></del>                          |                                   | level one attai                       | ns, the less apt he is       |
| :Strongly agre                                  |                            |  | Undecided                         | <u> </u>                              | Strongly disagree            |
| j. The idea tha                                 | t education                | n is a life                            |                                   | s too complex fo                      | r elementary (grades         |
| 1-6) student                                    | s.<br>:                    | _::                                    | .::                               | •                                     | _::                          |
| Strongly agre                                   | е                          |  | Undecided                         |                                       | Strongly disagree            |
| <ol><li>Adult educat<br/>for pre-adul</li></ol> |                            |  | neral public s                    | upport from tax                       | monies just as <b>we tax</b> |
| Strongly agre                                   | e :                        | :                                      | Undecided                         | <u> </u>                              | Strongly disagree            |
| 9. New insights                                 | are an eff                 | ective rewa                            | ard for continu                   | uing learning.                        | • •                          |
| -   |                            |  |                                   |                                       | :: Strongly disagree         |
| Strongly agre                                   | e                          | •                                      | Undecided                         |                                       | Scrongry disagres            |
|   |                            |  | school (grades<br>mentary educat: |                                       | ngle most important          |
| :   | :                          |  | · <u> </u>                        | ::                                    | ·                            |
| Strongly agre                                   | е                          |  | Undecided                         | •                                     | Strongly disagree            |
| l. When confron self-contrad                    | ted with un<br>ictory, inc | familiar pr<br>onsistent,              | oblems adults<br>and naive as     | are likely to gochildren do.          | ive answers quite as         |
| •   | :                          | •                                      |                                   | <u> </u>                              | ·                            |
| Strongly agree                                  | e ·                        |  | Undecided                         |                                       | Strongly disagree            |
| ?. The churches stability to                    |                            | s, homes ar                            | d schools of A                    | America are rema                      | ining havens of              |
| :   | :                          | •                                      | ••                                | • <u> </u>                            | ·                            |
| Strongly agree                                  | e .                        |  | Undecided                         | ——————                                | Strongly disagree            |
| 3. An individua<br>knowledge and                | l in today'<br>d skill nec | s world can<br>essary to l             | usually acquiive adequately       | re in his youth or                    | the bulk of the f his life.  |
| :   | •                          |  | : :                               |                                       | .::                          |
| Strongly agree                                  | <del></del>                | <del>_</del>                           | Undecided                         |                                       | Strongly disagree            |
|   |                            |  |                                   | •                                     |                              |

ERIC Provided by ERIC

| :                           | ·                     |                            |                        | •                                       | :                       | :                  | ······     | •     |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|------------------------|---|-------------------------|--------------------|------------|-------|
| Strongly agr                | cee ·                 |                            | Undec                  | ided                                    |                         | St                 | rongly dis | agree |
| ; Such every activities     | day acti<br>do not c  | vities as c<br>hange much  | hild raisinduring a po | ng, food person's l                     | oreparation<br>ifetime. | and leisu          | re time    |       |
| :                           | •                     | :                          |                        | · • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • |                         | :                  | :          |       |
| Strongly agr                | cee                   |                            | Undec:                 | ided                                    |                         | St                 | rongly dis | agree |
| . Adult educa<br>elementary | ation pro<br>and seco | grams shoul<br>ndary educa | d be finand            | cially sup                              | oported in              | a ma <b>nner s</b> | imilar to  |       |
| <b>:</b>                    | :                     | ::                         | <b>:</b>               | :                                       |                         | :_                 | :          |       |
| Strongly agr                | ee                    |                            | Undec                  | ided                                    |                         | St                 | rongly dis | agree |
|                             |                       |                            |                        |   |                         |                    |            |       |
| •                           |                       |                            |                        |   |                         |                    |            |       |
|                             |                       |                            |                        |   | mr n l                  | •                  |            |       |

PLEASE RETURN THIS SCALE IMMEDIATELY IN THE ENVELOPE PROVIDED

ERIC

Full East Provided by ERIC



# THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING college of education LARALITE, WYOMING 82070

Dear Elementary Teacher or Administrator:

Approximately ten days ago you received an adult attitude scale sent out through the College of Education at the University of Wyoming. It is important that all teacher attitudes are represented for inclusion in our project.

Please fill yours out promptly and return it in the self-addressed envelope provided with the scale. If yours has been returned, please accept our thanks for your cooperation in this project.

Sincerely,

ARTHUR W. EURRICHTER
Graduate Assistant
Room 306, College of Education

University of Wyoming Laramie, Wyoming 82070

APPENDIX B





# THE UNIVERSITY OF WYOMING COLLEGE OF EDUCATION LARAMIE, WYOMING 82070

Working with elementary students as a teacher is a challenging and exciting experience. As a recent elementary teacher, I am aware of the uncertainty we often face when we ask ourselves, "How can I best change attitudes in my classroom?"

While you ponder this question daily in the classroom as a teacher, others of us are asking the same kinds of questions about ourselves as teachers. "Can an individual's attitudes toward certain concepts be isolated?" "Are attitudes rather permanent, or do they change with additional information?"

The Department of Adult Education at the University of Wyoming is conducting a study on attitudes and attitudinal change. As a professional elementary teacher in Laramie County, you have been selected to participate in this project. We think you will enjoy the four short articles you receive by mail, and ask only that you read these articles and then check an attitude scale included with the final article.

As a professional elementary teacher interested in the advancement of elementary education, we sincerely solicit your cooperation. Please return the enclosed card telling us you will cooperate in this project.

Thank you very much.

ARTHUR BURRICHTER

Graduate Assistant, College of Education

University of Wyoming

Laramie, Wyoming



| •             | MAI GUUCE     | itor, I am will | ing oo oogo |
|---------------|---------------|-----------------|-------------|
| n this study. | سحسنت         | Yes             |             |
|               | - Company     | No .            |             |
|               | igned         |                 |             |
|               | Igned <u></u> |                 |             |



# A NEW IMPERATIVE FOR OUR TIMES \*

Recognition of the essentiality for educating adults to insure the security, productivity, and adaptability of a society facing changing conditions is as old as recorded history.

In ancient times organized education was for adults, not youth. Most of the great teachers in history such as Confucius, and the Hebrew prophets, Aristotle, Plato, and Jesus devoted their energies not to the development of the immature, but rather to the mature mind. The great social movements that produced Western Civilization, the Judeo-Christian religions, the Renaissance, the Reformation, the democratic revolutions, the Industrial Revolution; all were founded on the ability of the adult mind to learn and change.

The American educational enterprise, however, has evolved the principle that adult learning is optional. Our traditional educational policy has been based on the assumption that an individual can acquire in his youth the bulk of the knowledge and skill required for him to live adequately the rest of his life. Accordingly, the educational effort of American society was concentrated, until quite recently, almost exclusively on youth. Beyond that, learning was left largely to the diffusion of knowledge through more informal means: books, communications mass media, and voluntary study groups. The few programs organized for the education of adults were concerned chiefly with remedying deficiencies in the education of youth, particularly in the areas of literacy, citizenship, vocational skills, and the use of leisure time.

Now a new note is appearing in American educational thought: adults must continue to learn; learning, like breathing, is a requirement of living. The assumption that learning is a lifelong process is based on a new fact of life: the accelerating pace of social change. For the first time in the history of civilization, the time span of drastic cultural change has been telescoped into less than the lifetime of the individual. The current generation of mature adults now represents the first generation faced with managing a culture different in kind than the one originally transmitted to them. The consequence of this new fact of life is such that the well-educated youth of today is an obsolete man tomorrow.

Obsolescence occurs visibly in regard to knowledge. The set of facts the present adult generation learned about nature, the human personality, the arts, and the ordering of human affairs has today been supplanted by a more complete and extensive set. More knowledge has been discovered during the lifetime of the present adult population than existed at the time of its birth. Furthermore, knowledge becomes obsolete in essence. Learned truths (such as, that matter is mass) become untruths in the light of advanced learning (matter is now defined as mass-energy).

In regard to skills, obsolescence is even more apparent. Technological changes require adults continuously to adapt to new methods of work, and often,



even to new vocations. Such other everyday skills as those involved in child raising, food preparation, transportation, communication, health maintenance, and leisure time activity are constantly being modified.

We are in danger of becoming obsolete in other ways which are less visible, but even more tragic. The increasing necessity for a mobile population coincident with concentrated living in cities requires adults to learn new patterns, values, senses of belonging, and new ways of achieving personal identity repeatedly within a single lifetime. Such traditional havens of stability as churches, homes, schools, governments, businesses, and voluntary organizations are in constant flux, striving continually toward greater productivity and compatibility with modern living conditions.

The consequence of this sudden turn in the tide of civilization is clear: a society that makes its educational investment almost entirely in children and youth is on the way to becoming obsolete and is reducing its chances for survival. Therefore, there is new emphasis on the education of adults in America. This is why adult education is shifting rapidly from a marginal to a central concern for many educational statesmen; why legislators and educational policy-makers recognize that society now has as great a stake in the continued learning of adults as it ever had in the education of children. It is the reason the profession of adult education is searching its soul to ask, "Are we ready?"

In quiet ways but with rising tempo, for over a third of a century, the field of adult education has been preparing for a task, the immensity of which is yet only dimly seen. A 1957 census survey reported that about nine million adults were benefiting from formal instruction; other estimates indicate that at least another forty million were engaged in informal learning activities.

Unfortunately most of these adult learners participated only in spasmodic courses, rather than in a continuous plan of lifelong learning, and many millions more experienced no organized learning at all. The constituency of adult education has just begun to be developed; it will be full grown when American expects an adult to spend part of his time in organized learning as it now expects youth to attend school.

Adult education is young as a profession, being 34 years old as compared with the 84-year-old library profession, the 87-year-old social work profession, and the 103-year-old public school teaching profession. It has grown more rapidly in its first thirty-three years than did most other professions, but it is still only partly ready for the overwhelming responsibilities now confronting it. It is still geared largely to the conception of adult education as an optional activity in society.

If adult education is to fulfill its new mission as "an imperative of our times" the following conditions must be met:

- There must be a national perception, especially on the part of those who control educational policy, of the essential role of continuing education in preventing human obsolescence and in preserving and further developing the American society.
- The education of children and youth must be reoriented to a conception of learning as a lifelong process. Teachers in schools and colleges



must learn to teach youth so that they leave formal schooling (a) with an insatiable curiosity, (b) with a mastery of the tools of learning, and (c) with a commitment to continue learning through the rest of their life span.

- 3. The agencies of adult education must clarify their respective tasks of establishing between themselves orderly working arrangements and interrelated planning and to insure that the resources of adult education are used effectively in meeting the adult educational needs of individuals, institutions, and communities.
- 4. A coherent curriculum of adult education must be developed that provides for the sequential development of the knowledge, understanding, skills, attitudes, and values required to maintain one's effectiveness in a changing social order.
- 5. The corps of leaders and teachers of adults must be enlarged and provided with the knowledge and skills required for them to help adults learn efficiently.
- 6. A special responsibility is placed on the universities of the country to expand the resources available for research and advanced professional training in adult education.
- 7. Community agencies of adult education, especially schools and colleges, must upgrade the standards of professional competence required of those guiding adult learning, and employ personnel with these competencies.
- 8. There must be a national commitment to provide the resources and moral support necessary for the development of lifelong learning as an integral element of the American way of life.

# THE CHALLENGE OF ADULT EDUCATION IN THE NEW SOCIETY \*

Nearly five years ago, a bullet snuffed out the life of the President of the United States. John F. Kennedy has been on his way to deliver a speech. In it, he had planned to say something which is basic. He had wanted to tell his Dallas audience, and all of us:

"In a world of complex and continuing problems, in a world full of frustrations and irritations, America's leadership must be guided by the lights of learning and reason--or else those who confuse rhetoric with reality and the plausible with the possible will gain the popular ascendancy

In that speech he never gave, he labelled as "plain nonsense" the talk of those who offer "seemingly swift and simple solutions to every world problem." They would supplant "leadership and learning with ignorance and misinformation."



If the life of John Kennedy has meant anything for America, it has meant that he helped all of us to know that indeed there are no easy answers; that it is incumbent on all of us to gain a fuller appreciation of the challenges we face; that the burdens of our society are the concern of all of us.

In an earlier speech, President Kennedy reminded us that "the great enemy of the truth is very often not the lie--deliberate, contrived, and dishonest--but the myth--persistent, persuasive, and unrealistic . . . . We enjoy the comfort of opinion with the discomfrot of thought."

It is this "discomfort of thought" that constitutes the basic challenge of adult education today. We cannot much longer endure the persistence of myths and cliches and prejudices that surround the major issues of our times.

John F. Kennedy helped destroy some of these myths--including the one that a Catholic could never be a President of all the people. In his person and his actions, he made the term "politics" seem right again.

The nation is fortunate indeed that both John Kennedy and his successor have been, in effect, great adult educators. They have helped Americans to understand better the nature of today's challenges. They have used the great moral influence of the highest office of the land to prick the conscience of America and to seek their personal involvement in meeting such challenges.

There is, or course, a fine line between enlightenment and indoctrination. We must be wary of vesting in government unbridled powers of molding public opinion.

But the New Society--the Great Society, if you please--does require greater citizen understanding and greater citizen participation.

It is good for America that the White House has made civil rights a great moral personal issue, as well as an issue for Congressional enactment.

It is good for America that they now understand there is indeed an "other America"--the America of 30 million in poverty.

These two related issues--civil rights and the war on poverty--constitute the true challenges of our times: bringing a fifth of our people fully into the mainstream of American society.

In meeting this twin challenge, adult education must play an increasingly effective role at three levels of participation:

- It must help reach those who have been the victims of poverty and discrimination with more imaginative and more effective programs of basic education, training and self-advancement.
- 2. It must help train the new leadership, especially lay leadership, required for the effective implementation of new programs in the fields of poverty, human rights, and related fields.
- 3. It must more effectively reach all Americans--white and colored, poor and non-poor--with programs that will help them understand the changes that must come, the roles they must play, the contributions they must make.



One common thread goes through each of these levels--involvement of people and groups not previsouly reached. Adult education will and should continue reaching the established and the comfortable. Interior decorating and modern dancing are parts of the Great Society, too. But, first and foremost, adult education can help usher in the new society by reaching a new clientele, the clientele of the poor and the forgotten.

It will take new ways to reach the clientele. It will take new ways to teach this clientele. This is your challenge.

\* Hyman Bookbinder in Adult Leadership



# ADULT EDUCATION, ANYONE? \*

by

#### Brant Shoemaker

Professor of English, the Ogontz Campus Penn State University, Abington, Pennsylvania

The other day I was visiting the home studio of an artist friend when one of her five children bounced in, chattering our heated discussion on the merits of Renoir. Another heated discussion immediately took its place—this time between mother and daughter: to practice or not to practice the piano this afternoon. This discussion ended as you would expect. "One hour of practice for you, and afterwards you will be allowed to go to Mary's house to play."

I doubt if one person in ten would have the child run off without her non-credit lesson. Yet when it comes to adult education, we often think people are "silly" or "putting on airs" just because they smear a dab of paint on a canvas. And, especially among my colleagues in the scademic world, the whole adult education effort is all too often dismissed as "basketweaving"--unless it leads directly to a college degree.

Academic people--the very persons most often called upon to teach adult education courses--hold this attitude because they are accustomed to strict control over the student's efforts and his objective--the all important college degree.

But if Mrs. Able cannot make it for her Tuesday night class (it's eight year old Jimmy's birthday), she smilingly reports this to the instructor without the slightest twinge of conscience. Why? Because her objective is different from that of the degree seeker.

And why not? It is high time we asked this question reasonably and not archly. In an era when credits, degrees and graduate work are central to a life that burrows in, that specializes, what can we think of these "silly" people who are burrowing out?

Mrs. Able is not pursuing her studies for credits; she is not studying to gain a vocationally oriented degree but to broaden her life. On occasion, therefore, some other part of her life may be more important than her Tuesday class. She needs what the instructor offers, but it is not her only need or responsibility. In a word, she puts her studies in their place—and a very high place. But in all reason, it cannot be the only place.



## Enrichment

Personally, I think the world of the adult education students who are burrowing out! About ten years ago I had the honor of teaching literature to a "young" lady of seventy-four. She came to her evening class as if to a concert or stage play; she dressed accordingly, took her seat (first row, center aisle) and awaited curtain-time. This lady, mother of several children, grandmother of many more, came not to stack up credits but to enrich her life. Another mother, a regular viewer of a recent television series, wrote that the poetry program "lifted her mind from the dishpan to the skies."

Have we not lost much of the joy and wonder of life as we have become diploma-conscious? We have contracted the term education into the cramped position of meaning specialization. And shouldn't it mean generalization? or expansion? and, above all, enrichment?

Perhaps so many of us have grubbed and plodded along the road to degrees, with the only signposts reading dismally: "eighty-four credits to B.A.," "Turn right at M.A. for Ph.D.," that we are jealous of those with an innocent love to experience more and more of life through an appreciation of the arts.

It is foolish to suppose that at seventy-four that dear lady would become a great critic or writer, but she had learned better how to appreciate writings that formerly had been unnoticed by, or beyond, her. And the mother chained to her dishpan, would she astound us with flights of poetry? Maybe not-but surprisingly often she will! We cannot all be Artur Rubinsteins, but, by learning to play a little, we can better appreciate his great playing. Such studies give us new directions, new insights, new hopes.

Incidentally, my artist friend with the five children "discovered" her art talent only after the children had come along. She felt "engulfed." started art classes and is now giving showings of her superb paintings.

# \* Adult Education



#### A LIFETIME CONCERN \*

by

#### Grant Venn

Work can no longer be considered as merely the contribution of labor to the development of production; it must be thought of also as the psychological basis for the individual's place in society. The man who is unemployable has little opportunity to respect himself or the contributions he can make. He becomes a drag on society, economically, politically, and psychologically.

Occupational education must therefore become a fundamental part of the total educational program for every individual.

Our complex and changing society depends on the full development of every individual. Every time an individual falls short of his potential, the community loses, the state loses, and the nation is poorer for it.

Revising Our Concepts. Here in America we look to our schools to give the individual the opportunity to develop to his fullest. Once we thought we could accomplish this by having the student spend a certain number of years in school; now we know this is no longer adequate. We thought that graduation meant the completion of education; now we know it is only the commencement of learning for nearly everyone.

At one time we were not overly concerned about the fact that 30 per cent of our young people were not graduating from high school; we thought a student could drop out, get a job and live a satisfactory life; today we recognize our dropout rate as a disaster.

Once we thought that full employment would result from a growing economy, that our manpower needs could be met by unplanned development; now we know that education is a bridge between man and work, that our occupational education effort must be doubled and redoubled to provide needed manpower.

We know that if our educational system is to continue to be the chief source of preparing youth for the world of work, it must assume the responsibility for helping youth make the transition from school to work. Our schools and colleges must make learning how to work an integral part of their programs by giving students work experience.

Crucial Years. Work experience is especially essential for the non-college bound student who will enter the work force when he is graduated from high school; but essential also is an exploratory occupational

ERIC

education program for students at the elementary and junior high school level. It is at this level — in the seventh, eighth, and ninth grades — that approximately 30 per cent of our school dropouts occur. Thirty per cent of our students are thus cut off from the mainstream of education, they are denied the background that makes it possible for them to continue, and they miss the opportunity to become involved in vocational programs in high school. Their interests are never aroused or stimulated and, as a result, their opportunities for the future are severely restricted. These are the individuals who eventually become problems of society, the unemployed, the welfare cases and the criminals, or at best, end up in the so-called remedial programs operated by federal agencies outside the educational system.

Our failure to provide exploratory occupational education at the elementary and junior high school level could in the long run result in three educational systems instead of our present two -- private and public schools. Eventually our educational structure might be made up of (1) private schools to which the wealthy could send their children; (2) special schools for youngsters segregated because of family income or educational failure; and (3) a public school system serving for many students only as a selector and judge, eliminating them from the main-stream of education.

If this trend were to become entrenched, we could find ourselves in a sociological and political situation where the great strength of the country, which developed in its middle class, would disappear.

Education in a Broad Sense. Since the strength of our society depends on the full development of every individual, we must gear our educational system to the concept of continuing education in its broadest sense. This problem was posed in an excellent framework by Secretary John Gardner when he wrote:

"The successful transition of young people from school to job will become easier to accomplish as the artificial wall between the schools and the outer world breaks down. Fortunately the wall has been crumbling for some time, and is certain to disintegrate further. The vast development of industrial, military, and other education programs outside the formal system is striking evidence of that fact . . . . Also disintegrating is the notion that education is something that goes forward with no interuption until it is capped by some sort of graduation ceremony, whereupon it ends forever. We are coming to recognize that education must be lifelong, that it may be interrupted at many points, and that it may take place in many settings."

Outdated. But our educational system in its present form is not well geared to this broader concept of continued learning. It emphasizes full-time education, given over a fixed period of time, offering a prescribed program of courses, and ending at a set termination date. It is based on the outdated concept that most people can be educated during the period of youth.

By contrast, a good vocational or technical program will have as many (or more) students engaged in extension work as in preparatory work. This goal has already been achieved in many of the existing programs.



As more and more occupational education finds its way into higher education, will our colleges and universities respond to the need for a vigorous extension program with the flexibility to meet the needs of the people it must serve? New concepts, attitudes, and patterns of operation will be necessary.

There are a number of things that could be done to reach these ends.

One of the first changes we need is a new concept of just what comprehensive education is. We talk about comprehensive high schools and comprehensive education in this country, but I do not think we have a single comprehensive school in the nation. If comprehensive indicates programs to take care of the needs of all the individuals, then I can't quite see how we can continue to say to the youngster, "If you are not learning, you shouldn't go to school." We are still pushing out of our schools over one-third of the young men and women of high-school age in this country. Comprehensive education is going to have to provide new programs, new courses, new flexibility, so that every youngster has a chance to learn. And this is something new.

I think we need to have also a new concept of occupational education. The nature of work has changed so much that we can no longer think of vocational, or technical, or occupational education as the teaching of a set of basic skills which prepares the individual who has learned them for a permanent place in the work-world. This is simply not going to be true, because the average person is likely to change jobs four or five times during his work-life.

Another problem that we must attack is how we can provide training for every single youngster who attends our educational institutions. Every single one! The gifted child is quite well cared for, because we know how to get him into college if he is gifted. Not only do we give him the professional-vocational skills that he needs, but we put him in the job, we follow-up, and we move him into a new job if it is necessary. We do this for the 20 per cent that graduate from college. We do not do it for those who drop out of college, nor for any of those in high school except the college bound. And we generally make no attempts to offer such service.

Another major objective in facing up to the problem of education is accepting learning as the major purpose of education, regardless of where it takes place. For years we have had the idea that to learn, one must sit in a seat, one's cwn seat, for one hour or 55 minutes, for six periods a day, and if a student is not in this position, we have practically said, "You can't learn."

I think we must recognize that regardless of the subject matter we teach in school, we must remind all persons who graduate from school, whether it be Harvard Graduate School or any other school, that change is rapidly taking place and that each student must cope with this change and prepare to change with it. Why can't we devise some way to measure the learning that can take place on the farm, in the factory, in the store, or any place so that the individual can come back into the educational mainstream and continue to learn? Fundamentally, what we say is that we respect learning, but we respect it only when it takes place in



certain areas and under certain conditions. Until we change this, I don't think we are going to accomplish our job.

The Establishment of Exploratory Occupational Education Programs and Concepts at the Elementary Level. These programs could be developed as part of the subjects which all children take while they are in elementary and junior high school. The idea would be to provide youngsters with all kinds of information on possibilities for future education and to broaden their occupational horizons and concepts about work. At this age, students could be introduced to the many varieties of jobs that are available and what future they hold. There would be no attempt to force a vocational choice; the aim would be to provide for all children a bridge from elementary and junior high school to high school vocational programs, pre-technical programs, college preparatory programs, or general programs.

A nation-wide work-study program that would give many young people still in school an opportunity for work experience. Few youngsters, it appears, have the chance to get work experience in today's world. At the same time it is obvious that much work needs to be done. Students could begin in much the same kind of programs as those offered in the Neighborhood Youth Corps -- with the exception that related studies would be tied to the work experience. The work experience would become a regular part of the school program.

Schools should recognize the value of developing good work attitudes and habits that will stand their students in good stead in the future, and should give credit for work experience. It should become a part of the high school record, recognized in the same manner that work experience at the college level is recognized by business and industry.

If we accept the concept that flexibility and continued learning are going to be needed by every citizen in the future, then it is essential that we not only get our young people into our public educational system but keep them there. Only in this way can they become effective and remain effective throughout their adult lives.

\* American Vocational Journal and School Shop



#### TO TOUCH A CHILD

### The Mott Foundation

This dramatic film illustrates the needless waste we permit in schools across the country each day and during vacation when the "lights go out." Nearly 100,000 buildings become islands within a community where no one is able to go for further education, recreation, or leisure time activity. Billions of dollars worth of public buildings remain empty and unused.

The story of one school--Cook School--shows what can be done when a community sets about to end this needless waste. Up until the time of this film, the needs of adults and the home problems that existed were of no concern to the community.

Some members of the school realized that when children come to school their backgrounds came with them, whether they were good or bad. Vividly illustrated is the child whose father is out of work and its effect on her. The boy whose father is gone a great deal, and his need for a masculine immage is shown, as are other typical cases found in each school.

However, this school remained empty all summer, ignoring the needs of everyone--including the old and lonely, people in need of retraining programs, children, etc. The taxpayers found the schools to be a "burden" for the children of strangers, and expressed their feelings at the poles when it was time for a bond issue. Every bond issue was turned down, and no new buildings or additions had been approved for years. Children also found the schools a cold and undesirable place, and damage to the buildings and school property was consistently heavy.

One summer a little boy was playing near the school in the street, when he met the physical education director. This man told him to go shead and play on the school grounds, and that if anyone asked him about it to tell them that his parents were paying for the schools. Some adults began to see the potential, and set about to make the schools true community centers.

As the physical education director explained it, why should you settle for nine months of school for \$50.00 worth of taxes and a total of 1365 hours when you could add less than \$3.00 to your tax bill and get 12 months of day and night use and get 2535 additional hours a year. The idea was planted, and all that was needed was some financial support to get it started. This came from an industrialist who wanted to begin a boy's club in an empty building. He offered \$6,000.00 to the board of education to start the program in five schools. The board accepted and let the people decide what they wanted.



The people reached out for what they wanted, such as recreation, self-improvement, and companionship. Of course, opposition arose from some areas—some said the school must have "standards," but the paper supported the idea and a hugh turn out responded the first year. Five schools were unable to handle the program, and the following year it was expanded to 15 schools. Eventually all schools became community centers, and people realized that the most expensive area (gymnasiums) when empty was one of the most useful as a community center.

People came for many reasons—some to learn baking, or sewing, or update their job skills, or play cards, or lose weight, etc. Many of those same people stayed on to earn a high school diploma. Classes were requested in English, foreign languages, etc., which were provided.

The community soon discovered that all their best efforts were in vain if the health of the community in general (children in particular) was not good. They undertook to diagnos and treat the illfeed, the physically handicapped, and to help illiterate parents. The community had a base for attacking these problems through its community schools. Self-help was encouraged, and in the first year over 60,000 correctable defects were discovered. The number of "health-guarded" children increased ten-fold in the first three years of the program. The people of the community helped with these health programs, and classes were conducted for expectant mothers, nutrition, home management, etc.

The community agencies and schools now began to work together in closer cooperation. Scouting programs, Big Brother, Big Sister, use of park facilities, and other areas became a basis for close cooperation. The churches, YMCA, social and civic clubs all made use of the schools. Parents, teachers, and community agencies became a closely working group for the first time.

The changes resulting from this cooperation showed up at the poles. A bond issue now passed by a 4 to 1 vote, and the first new school was built in 20 years. It featured a hard surfaced-lighted playground for use day or night, a library for the community it served, and it catered to concerts, public forums, cultural activities, etc. Roller skating was carried on in the gym, and older adults were encouraged to come for social activities.

Older schools now added community centers, and a community school director was hired to work with principals and community forces to shape programs for all. Examples of programs which were soon underway were "tot-lots" for use in the summer, pee-wee baseball, teen clubs, vocational training for adults, continuing education courses, and a wide program for senior citizens which provided social outlets and activities. These community centers were "naturals" for older adults because of the casy walking distance to their homes.

In Flint, Michigan where Cook School took the initiative for the first program, the city of under 200,000 people had 83,000 people in 3600 after school and evening programs. The adult evening enrollment is larger than the daytime enrollment in the cities largest high school.



As a result of these programs, the drop-out rate has dropped to where 80 per cent now stay in school, where credit and non-credit courses are offered in abundance. This community built and opened a new college (Flint Community College) of more than \$25,000,000 paid for on the day it opened by voluntary contributions from the community.

Something happened in Flint, Michigan which welded people into a community. This same thing is now happening other places, after seeing the initial program supported by Charles Stuart Mott--the industrial leader who started it all.

This touching film illustrates the concept that through <u>open school</u> doors you can <u>touch</u> the community. The <u>community touches</u> the <u>homes</u>, and <u>homes touch</u> the hearts of <u>children</u>.



#### ADULTS CAN LEARN \*

by J.R. Kidd and J.R. Gibb ..

Homo sapiens is a strange being! Most of us, on the one hand, say that the thing which most distinguishes man from other animals is that he is able to learn, to profit from experience, to adapt, to innovate in a m nner markedly different from other living inhabitants of our world. A chief attribute of the human being is learning. At the same time, when we speak of learning we do so as if it transpired only in a few brief years of life, something associated with childhood, that can be likened to childhood diseases, like measles.

Adults can learn! They continue to learn throughout life, right until the time when life itself is passing. Adults are, or can be, effective learners. Of course there are great differences between individuals; and the success of any learner, youth or adult, is bounded by his innate capacities. But few, if any, adults have ever approached their potential achievement in learning. We need to remember that the stoutest shackles binding an adult learner have little or nothing to do with age; they are self-imposed.

Adult learning has always gone on. But only in relatively recent times has effort been directed to systematized means for adult learning, or has there been any attention to the way adults learn. The self-learner, the man or woman who would continue to study and grow on his own, has always been known in history and literature. However, most organized efforts in adult education, in by far the majority of cases, were directed to remedial tasks, that is, helping an adult to gain the kind of education that he ought to have been able to have as a child.

But today learning for adults goes far beyond the remedial: it deals with all the intellectual and spiritual needs that a man or woman possesses at any time of life. Education conceived as providing the adult with something he missed as a child might be planned as an adaptation of materials and methods designed for children, although this approach was rarely successful. But an education planned for free men and women, and for all their pursuits and interests, can never be designed on some childish model, or on any model other than what is suited to the learner himself.

Someone has said that the most important development of the ninetcenth century, because of its influence on everything else, was the establishment of free and universal schooling for children. Of course the idea was never fully achieved anywhere and at best was limited in application to a few countries in the "Western world." A parallel phenomenon in the twentieth century is the recognition that



all life is for learning, and the gradual organization of this idea, not just in a few countries, but in every part of the world. In some countries of the world, in the face of stark problems of ignorance, disease, and malnutrition, education has first been provided for parents, only later for children. In many countries—both those that are developed and those that are not—adult education is not considered a luxury or amenity, it is a social necessity. Indeed, one of the new problems respecting adult education is to balance the motives and goals of the individual who is learning with the demands and needs of society.

Adult education, then, has become an extensive activity, and it seems that we are just at the beginning. A great many people are engaged full time in work directly related to the learning of adults—for example, teachers in nightschools, librarians, managers, foremen, coaches, counselors, agricultural extension agents, trade union educational officers, program directors in social agencies. These practitioners have been trained usually in some field other than that of adult education. We do not mean to argue that adults are of a different kind of species than are children, but simply to emphasize the obvious, that learning theory and practice should be concerned with the person as he is—not as he was, or may become. We need to give attention both to the quantitative and qualitative differences between children and adults as well as stress underlying continuities.

Learning must be problem centered. For the most significant kinds of learnings that adults do, the problem must be a problem for the learner, not a problem of the teacher. When the learner sees a real problem he is motivated to seek some kind of solution.

Learning must be motivated. The problem serves to provide energy, direction, and sustaining force to the activities of the learner.

Learning must be experience-centered. All sensory input to the organism is, of course, "experience." The problem for the teacher who is to develop a climate for learning is to help provide the optimal kinds of experiences that will relate to the problems of the learner. The learner must get data upon his problem. A joint responsibility of the teacher and the learner is to create a climate which allows the learner to accept the experience as learningful.

Experience must be meaningful to the learner. The experience that bears upon the problem must be suited to some degree to the learner's innate capacity to perceive, his age, his interests, his readiness, and his capacity to understand.

The learner must be free to look at the experience. Learning is a social experience. Learners learn from others in social situations. The learner who is emotionally and psychologically free to look at experience is ready to start on the process of acquiring the necessary behavior with which to learn and to grow.

The goals must be set and the search organized by the learner. Several experiments indicate that the active learner is a more effective learning organism than the passive learner. In order that problems be



problems to the learner, it is significant that the goals of the broad learning quest be set by the learner. The learner must be free to make errors, to explore alternative solutions to problems, and to participate in decisions about the organization of his learning environment.

For maximum learning the learner must interact with other learners in such a way as to expose his attitudes and gaps in knowledge and skills to himself and to others.

The learner must have feedback about progress toward goals. Students of learning have long emphasized the importance of knowledge of results in acquiring skills. Evaluation of progress toward goals, particularly when goals have been set by the learner, is highly important.

\* How Adults Learn and Handbook of Adult Education in the United States

ERIC

One of the most rewarding stories we have heard about adult education came out of the quiet confession of a mether and father. Their teenage son was at that sensitive age when he was desperately trying to find some meaning for his life and apparently couldn't. Since there was no communication between them because there did not understand the boy and he did not understand them, he had turned to other people for help; unfortunately, the wrong sort of people.

These parents were good people but their interests were limited. After the day's work they usually turned to those leisure activities that came the easiest. It did not occur to them that leisure could be used for growth and stimulation. They were intelligent enough, however, to suspect that something was not right. By chance, they read in their newspaper about the growing interest in adult education in the United States. A few days later the mother picked up a prospectus of University Extension courses describing the variety offered, the simplicity of enrollment, and the small investment involved in dollars and cents.

As this couple explained it, they were actually bored with the easy and meaningless entertainments they had been using to fill their leisure hours. Simply because their activities had been labeled "entertainment," they had assumed they were being entertained. Fortunately, the prospectus on extension courses began to epen their eyes to a whole new world.

"So," as they related it, "we decided to give adult education a try. After all, it cost so little and demanded no commitment of us beyond what we ourselves were willing to make. It was all up to us; no one was going to stand over us or force us. The responsibility was our own and we could take it or leave it, and there would be little lost in case we should decide to leave it."

They chose not to leave it, but to take it, and discovered a surprising world of "pleasure" in learning which they had not known existed. It was the supreme pleasure that comes as a result of making an intelligent effort, of marching forward instead of leaning back, of giving something instead of always receiving.

They had reason to be delighted, but the ultimate reward that gave them the greatest satisfaction—a reward on which they had not even counted—was the effect their new program of learning had upon their son. These parents discovered that by broadening the horizons of their native intelligence through a program of channelled, productive study, they gradually gained a better understanding of the boy's problems. They began to realize the extent to which their son, growing up in a world of new complexities and values, had been looking to his parents for guidance and help in his growing confusion. But their own boredom, their own sense of futility had made the boy look upon them with distrust, perhaps even shame. He wanted to be proud of his parents; he wanted to respect them. Instead, he only succeeded in sharing their boredome.

With the change in his mother and father, the boy discovered he too was changing. Instead of maintaining an air of sullen secrecy, he found that he and his parents were recovering the ability to communicate; and, with communication restored—even in its initially limited form—nutual understanding and respect were reborn. The realization dawned upon the parents that their sen's problems were real (and manageable) and could no longer be simply deplored or shrugged off. In their acceptance of this fact—and this seemed to count the most—their son began to recegnize both their goodwill and their authority. Through their own efforts



of self-discipline in their desire to learn and to enjoy the worthwhile, their son discovered the meaning and purpose of discipline for himself.

What happened to this one family is in no way a miracle. It was simply the process of individual growth and maturity in action. Adult education, as people are becoming more aware, is not merely a means of achieving self-respect, but also a means of preparing oneself for the respect of those who need and long for understanding and guidance.

Newsletter Massachusetts Department of Education Boston, Massachusetts

THE NEED FOR ADULT EDUCATION -- SOME MAJOR THEMES \*

bу

Webster Cotton

Department of Social Sciences, University Extension, University of California

What is the "case for adult education"? Why do we need adult education in a free society? Why is adult education a new imperative for our times? These are questions that American adult educators and others have been attempting to answer since the 1920's. There have been articles in the journals, sections of books, and other publications that have concerned themselves, either directly or indirectly with this topic. Most recently, The Commission of the Professors of Adult Education has authored a report, "Adult Education: A New Imperative for Our Times," as their contributions to providing a rationale for adult education.

Let us consider and explore briefly some of the major themes that seem to underlie "the rationale for adult education in a free society." The following classification is presented as one of a number of ways to categorize these themes:

- 1. The nature of our free society.
- 2. The nature of the world we live in.
- 3. The nature of the educational process.
- 4. The nature of the Good Life.
- 5. The nature of adult needs and responsibilities.

# Nature of Free Society

Perhaps that general theme which has been most widely used to support the case for adult education relates to "the nature of our free society." The assumption underlying this theme is that a democratic society makes special demands on the individual. These demands are of three types (and each of these types has important implications for adult education). They are: (1) the demand for educated adults—adults who can exercise their responsibilities of citizenship in an enlightened and responsible manner; (2) the demand for adults



who have an understanding and appreciation of freedom; and (3) the demand for adults who can exercise effective leadership.

Until the 1920's most educators assumed that the formal education offered at the elementary and secondary level was adequate to prepare the individual for responsible citizenship in a free society. However, in the 1920's a number of respected members of the intellectual-academic community began to question this assumption. Since that time, this assumption has been increasingly questioned, especially by adult educators. They note that forty years of universal education at the elementary and secondary level has not given us an enlightened and responsible electorate. This, they feel, indicates that "educating for citizenship" is a continuing process and hence a major responsibility of adult education.

Two of the assumptions that underlie the democratic ideology are: (1) belief in the dignity and worth of the individual and (2) belief in the rationality of the individual; however, both of these assumptions must be qualified with the word potential. An individual must earn or win his dignity and worth and realize his rationality through disciplined and enlightened living. But a free society can only continue to exist as its members reflect the attributes of "dignity and worth" and "rationality." Thus, the implication of living in a free society is that an adult must go on learning--must accept education as a way of life--so he can become what he potentially is.

Freedom is related to the foregoing but focuses on a specific aspect of democracy. The concept of freedom is the sine qua non of democracy. Unless individuals understand and appreciate the meaning and nature of freedom, our free society is doomed. However, we are continually being made aware that the great majority of our citizens do not either understand the meaning of freedom or appreciate the inexorable nature of the relationship between freedom and democracy. For example, Professors Silver and Hagstrom, in a recent issue of the British Journal of Sociology, ask this question: "Can individual freedom survive in a country where most people do not support it?" More exactly, do legal guarantees of such freedom remain effective when only a minority voices approval of them.

This poses two challenges for adult education. First, there is the problem of educating adults to understand and appreciate the nature and meaning of freedom in the context of a free society. Too often "practical considerations" ("protecting" society from Communists or adults from salacious materials) win out over the abstract principle of freedom, and the right of free speech is abridged or strict censorship laws are passed. Thus our basic freedoms are slowly eroded away. The essence of responsibility in a free society is to understand and appreciate those abstract principles which underlie the democratic way of life. But this requires intelligence, rationality, sophistication and enlighterment—it requires accepting education as a way of life.

The second challenge is related to the first. The adult must not only understand the ultimate principles which underlie democracy, he must be a responsible moral and intellectual agent. He must be able to provide moral guidance for his children so the state will not have to impose strict censorship laws. He must be sophisticated enough not to fall prey to Communist propaganda. The antidote to increased government control is the enlightened and responsible citizen.



Education for effective leadership is concerned with those who have leader-ship responsibilities in our free society. As Herbert J. Muller has pointed out:

The problem today is not merely a matter of improving the minds and tastes of common men. It is also a question of whether the elite can provide better political, intellectual, and spiritual leadership than it has in all previous societies. For if the creative achievements of civilization have been due primarily to the elite, so too have the failures of civilization.

Today as never before, our free society needs an enlightened, responsible and creative leadership. We need leaders who will give our democracy direction and a sense of mission. And we need leaders throughout our society at all levels. However, responsible, enlightened and creative leadership depends upon individuals who are educated—and who have accepted education as a way of life.

## The World We Live In

A second general theme which underlies the rationale for adult education relates to the nature of the world we live in. The world of the 1960's has three dramatic characteristics, each of which has important implications for adult education. It is: (1) a rapidly changing world; (2) a revolutionary world; and (3) a world in crisis.

For the first time in the history of civilization, the time span of drastic cultural change has been telescoped into less than the life-time of the individual . . . the consequence of this new fact of life is such that the well-educated youth of today is an obsolete man tomorrow."

There are a number of consequences that result from living in a rapidly changing world. For example: (1) knowledge becomes obsolete; (2) the adult must adjust to a new mode of living; (3) tensions arise from cultural lag; and (4) the insecurity and anxiety of a society and culture in transition increase.

These consequences and many more make it increasingly imperative that the adult accept education as a way of life, so he can understand his changing environment and make a successful adaption to it.

The second characteristic of the world we live in--a revolutionary world-is closely related to the one above. However, the emphasis here is on the economic, political, technological and scientific revolutions that have characterized the twentieth century. We are truly living in a revolutionary age. The most important fact about these revolutions it that it has put unparalleled power into the hands of the many and the few. In general, though, the net effect of these revolutions seems to have been to provide an increasing opportunity for the masses of men to exert some control over their destiny. Whether they will seize this opportunity depends primarily upon whether another revolution takes place--the revolution in education.

It is a depressing but obvious fact that the knowledge exists (as well as the means of communicating this knowledge) upon which to build a better society and a more meaningful life; and yet the average adult has not availed himself of this knowledge.

It is also a depressing fact that the power which has been unleashed by these revolutions, if not handled in a responsible and enlightened way, could well mean the end of world civilization as we know it.



Severtheless, adults can be educated to live in a revolutionary world-they can be educated to make use of their new-found power in a responsible and disciplined manner.

# A World in Crisis

This is a world in crisis. The crises confronting man in the 1960's include: (1) the threat of the homb; (2) the challenge of Communism; (3) the threat of a population explosion; (4) the threat of a decadent materialism; (5) the tide of riving expectations; and (6) the rise of militant nationalism. Any one of these crises would be enough to challenge the creative resources of man in ordinary times. But we do not live in ordinary times. As C.P. Snow points out: "The danger is, we have been brought up to think as though we had all the time in the world. We have very little time. So little that I dare not guess at it." The time has finally arrived when each adult must appreciate the true significance of H.G. Wells' statement that: "Civilization is in a race between education and catastrophe."

"Adults must continue to learn; learning, like breathing, is a requirement of living." I do not mean to imply that education will save civilization; only that without it we are facing certain catastrophe. Accepting education as a way of life is the last best hope of mankind.

## The Educational Process

The nature of the educational process, as viewed by the adult educator, is tile "capstone" which supports the other themes that underlie the rationale for adult education. In the most general terms, a functional approach toward education is adopted.

The functional approach has a radically different perspective on the educational process. The chief characteristics seem to be:

- 1. Education is viewed in behavioral terms--in terms of the significant differences that come about in the behavior of the learner. The criteria of whether education has taken place is whether there have been significant behavioral changes in the learner.
- 2. Education is viewed as a continuing process. As J.K. Hart has put it: "Education goes on whether school keeps or not." And there is a strong possibility that the most significant learning (in behavioral terms) takes place in the home and the neighborhood.
  - 3. The education of the immature is seen as only one phase of the overall educational process. The principle of life-long learning is emphasized.
  - 4. Education is seen as a consequence of the meaningful experiences we participate in. In W.H. Kilpatrick's descriptive phrase: "We learn what we live, we learn each response as we accept it for any living purpose, and we learn it in the degree that we live it."
  - 5. The learner is viewed as playing an active role in the learning process. The most important type of education is self-education.
  - 6. Any improvements in education will depend primarily on the attitudes that people adopt toward education. In the last analysis, it is the personal commitment that each individual makes to accept education as a way of life that is all important.



Four specific themes seem to support the case for adult education. They are: (1) the functional nature of education; (2) the continuing nature of education; (3) the experiential nature of education; and (4) the relationship between maturity and education.

There are four aspects of the functional concept of education which seem to have important implications for adult education. These are: (1) the idea that "education goes on whether school keeps or not"; (2) the central role of the learner in the educational process; (3) the view of education as a continuing process; and (4) the experiential nature of the educational process.

What are the implications for adult education of the fact that "education goes on whether school keeps or not"? There is one extremely important implication. That is the major role that parents play in the education of their children. On this point, Max Lerner has said:

At the risk of shocking some people, I would like to say that a home without books and ideas can be almost as bad for a child as a broken home, an alcoholic home, or a criminal home, because it leaves a vacuum into which rush corrupting values.

However, parents themselves must be educated and accept education as a way of life, if they are to provide a home environment in which their children will be stimulated to accept education as a way of life.

The functional view of education also places the primary responsibility on the individual to acquire an education. The individual must play an active role in the educational process. This means that an adult must make a personal commitment to education—accept education as a way of life, if he is to become educated. There is no royal road to learning; only a sustained, systematic and disciplined effort by the individual will achieve significant results.

Robert Redfield has said: "An educated person is one who is continually at work on his own enlargment." There are a number of reasons why learning is a life-time process--why we must be "continually at work on our own enlargement." First, there is so much important knowledge to be learned--it will take a life-time to acquire. Second, as has been pointed out earlier, knowledge becomes obsolete in this changing world. Third, we must be continually adapting to new conditions which require new skills and knowledge. Fourth, learning takes on significance in terms of a unique experiential context. This means we cannot learn certain things until we have been subjected to a unique set of experiences. And fifth, in order to achieve growth--to realize our latent potentialities--we must be continually involved in our intellectual development.

The important implication of this point for adult education is that some of the most significant learning experiences will take place during the adult period. Therefore adults need the opportunity to acquire this learning in a systematic and organized manner, i.e. within the framework of programs of adult education.

A basic postulate of the functional orientation toward education is that learning takes place as the result of meaningful experiences. The individual learns as he is confronted with a problematic situation in an experiential setting that has meaning to him. From this point of view, the formal class-room is antiseptic as far as meaningful learning experiences are concerned



1.11

(although a good deal of memorization may go on). Thus, the adult who has more experiences, different kinds of experiences and experiences that are organized differently from those of the immature, offers a great potential in terms of learning. However, it is still necessary to make these experiences meaningful through a systematic and comprehensive program of adult education.

### The Good Life

Philosophers, as well as others, disagree on what constitutes the Good Life in specific terms. However, there seems to be fairly general agreement on some of the factors involved in achieving the Good Life. These factors are of three types: (1) The psychological factors involved in achieving emotional maturity; (2) The intellectual-rational factors; and (3) The creative factors. The overall concept is that of achieving growth--emotional, intellectual and aesthetic. The individual is "at work on his own enlargement"--seeking to release his creative energies and realize his latent potentialities. The implications for adult education are threefold: (1) education for emotional maturity; (2) education for intellectual growth; and (3) education for aesthetic growth.

A number of psychologists and psychiatrists have noted that within each individual " . . . the ultimate driving force is the person's unrelenting will to come to grips with himself, a wish to grow and leave nothing untouched that prevents growth"--in a word, to achieve maturity. These same psychologists and psychiatrists have pointed out that achieving maturity is an educational process. It involves systematic and disciplined learning on the part of the individual--learning about himself, learning about others and learning about the world he lives in.

Education for intellectual growth can take a number of directions. Dewey and his followers would emphasize the problem-saving aspects of intellectual growth--making the adult a more sophisticated and enlightened problem-solver. On the other hand, Ralph Barton Perry, and those who are more in the academic-intellectual tradition, would focus on the liberating nature of intellectual growth. Perry puts it this way: "Education is liberal insofar as it invites and qualifies men to choose deeply and fundamentally, to choose ends as well as means, to choose remote as well as immediate ends, to choose from many rather than from few possibilities." Clearly, what both Dewey and Perry have in mind is that man "use his mind to the utmost, no holds barred." However, this will not be possible unless the adult accepts education as a way of life-unless he undertakes a systematic, sustained and disciplined program of lifelong learning.

In this age of science, technology, the organization man, mass anonymity and increasing leisure, the aesthetic dimension of the Good Life is taking on an ever-increasing importance. The creative arts--painting, music, literature, etc.--are seen as avenues through which the individual can achieve a more meaningful existence. And yet the great mass of American adults remain content to concentrate on the vast cultural wasteland of television, the movies, "Mickey Spillane" and other forms of popular entertainment. The average adult needs guidance and direction in achieving aesthetic growth. This is one of the important challenges and opportunities that confronts American adult education.

#### Adult Responsibilities

ERIC

Adults are confronted with a series of unique responsibilities. These responsibilities include that of: (1) worker, (2) marriage partner, (3) parent,

(i) consumer, (5) citizen and (6) member of the community. There are also a whole range of needs that adults strive to fulfill. These needs are related to the responsibilities need above. They also involve the need to achieve emotional maturity and a meaningful type of existence. The implications for adult education are obvious. The i latienship between continuing education and the fulfilling of our citizenship responsibilities has been discussed. The same type of relationship applies to the other adult responsibilities.

## Vocational Competence

On-the-jeb or in-service training and the concept of learning by doing has always been of great importance. This is the area in which adult education has had its greatest success. It has been estimated that the factories and the business offices are the great centers of adult education in this country. The "hard-headed" businessman has long recognized that an individual cannot learn a jeb until he actually performs it. He has further recognized that the worker must be learning continually on-the-job; keeping up to date on the latest advances and constantly improving his job performance. The concept of continuing education has proved itself in industry and business on a purely economic basis (in terms of dollars and cents). It remains to be proved in those areas when social and human considerations are all-important.

## Marital Competence

The spiralling divorce rate should be a dramatic enough indication of the need for continuing education in this area. However, even more tragic, perhaps, are the great number of marriages that stay together but are not in any sense creative. There are a number of ways in which adult education can make for more creative marriage relationships. For example, sex education and a better understanding of inter-personal relationships can provide a sound basis for a happy marriage. Engaging in lifelong learning together should provide the setting in which a marriage can grow and become more meaningful.

#### Parental Competence

Juvenile delinquency is usually pointed to as the great indicator that all is not well in many American homes. The difficulty is more subtle than than. It is my contention that the great majority of parents are not providing the type of environment in which their children can grow intellectually, aesthetically or emotionally. Too many parents are operating under the delusion that their children will be "educated" in the classroom. The truth is that children are educated in the home--they are educated by the attitudes and values of the parents. Thus, if parents are to accept their ultimate responsibility as the primary teachers of their children, they must be educated and accept education as a way of life. They must not only understand child and adolescent psychology; they must also know enough about literature, history, politics, etc., to give their children an understanding of our heritage and a love of learning. Once parents recognize the fundamental truth that the most significant learning of the immature takes place in the home, then they will begin to accept education as a way of life.

#### Economic Competence

One of the distinctive features of our society is that we have a laissezfaire type conemy. This means that the consumer has the ultimate decision-

113

what quantities. The consumer "votes" in the market place, using money, for various commedities and various producers. Unless he "votes" in an intelligent way, he will not gain the full benefit of our capitalistic system. Thus he needs to have some understanding of: (1) the basic economic concepts and principles (supply and demand analysis, marginal utility, etc.); and (2) up-to-date information on the products he wishes to purchase (as provided in Consumer Reports magazine and other publications).

## The Need for Action

ERIC

These themes underlie and underline the need for adult education in a free society.

It would seem that adult educators have an impressive case to make for adult education. And yet the facts belie this impression. Adult education is struggling for survival in a sometimes hostile, but more often apathetic social environment.

What can be done? There are a number of things that must be done--and soon. First, adult educators must articulate the rationale and purpose of adult education in a free society more systematically, more explicitly and in more depth than has been done in the past. Second, adult educators should rally to their support the enlightened and responsible members of the academic-intellectual community. Third, an intensive public relations program should be undertaken to educate: (1) the members of the adult education profession; (2) community and business leaders; (3) legislators and public officials; and (4) the general public to the crucial role that adult education has to play in our democratic society. And fourth, foundation and public financial support should be found that will make possible: (1) the development of adult education programs; (2) the conducting of research in adult education; (3) the maintenance of a continuing philosophical dialogue on the nature, purpose and rationale of adult education; and (4) the encouragement of outstanding individuals into the field of adult education.

APPENDIX C

Please accept our sincere thanks for your loyal cooperation and support in this study. The enclosed materials are the last that will be sent.

Please read the materials you have received carefully. After you have finished, fill out the enclosed attitude scale and return it immediately in the envelope provided.

Thank you,

Arthur Burrichter Craduate Student

Room 306, College of Education

University of Wyoming Laramie, Wyoming 82070



| for each of the follow the position which mos               | ring statements ref | its please indicate the lects your opinion | with an ( X ) or or position rega | n the rating scale arding the statement. |
|---|---------------------|--|-----------------------------------|--|
| 1. It is nearly impo  | ssible to ch        | ange adult attitude                        | s after 45-50 ye                  | ears of age.                             |
| : : <u>:</u>  | :                   | <u> </u>                                   | ::                                | <u></u> :                                |
| Strongly agree  |                     | Undecided                                  |                                   | Strongly disagree                        |
| <ol> <li>Elementary studen<br/>about lifelong ed</li> </ol> |                     | -6) are a little to                        | o young to becom                  | ne very concerned                        |
| ::<br>Strongly agree  | ::                  | Undecided                                  |                                   | Strongly disagree                        |
| 3. Lifelong learning  | of one sort         | or another is esse                         | ntial or obsoles                  | scence takes over.                       |
| :::   | <u> </u>            | ;;;  | ::                                |  |
| Strongly agree  |                     | Undecided                                  |                                   | Strongly disagree                        |
| 4. Passing a test ov has occurred.                          | er material         | studied or reciting                        | it back is evid                   | dence that learning                      |
| :   | •                   |  | <u> </u>                          |  |
| Strongly agree  |                     | Undecided                                  |                                   | Strongly disagree                        |
| <ol> <li>With advancing ag<br/>materials or conc</li> </ol> |                     | increasingly difficent                     | cult to learn ne                  | ew and unfamiliar                        |
| Strongly agree  |                     | Undecided                                  |                                   | Strongly disagree                        |
|   | individual          | usually means he is                        | learning well.                    |  |
| ·   | ::                  | 77. 3. 0. 3. 4. 4                          |                                   | Strongly disagree                        |
| Strongly agree  |                     | Undecided                                  |                                   | Stigngly dioagram                        |
| 7. Elementary school world of work.                         | children (g         | rades 1-6) should be                       | e taught certair                  | n concepts about the                     |
| : :   | ·                   | •    | ::                                |  |
| Strongly agree  |                     | Undecided                                  | _                                 | Strongly disagree                        |
| 3. A few jobs requir is "up to date" w                      | e constant u        | apdating of skills w                       | hile the majorit                  | y of the population                      |
|   | ith a nigh s<br>·   | chool or college ed                        |                                   |  |
| :   | ith a high s        | cnool or college ed                        | :::                               | ·  |
| :::   | ith a high s        | Undecided                                  | ·:                                | Strongly disagree                        |
| Strongly agree  3. A child's learning                       | ·<br>               | Undecided .                                | ::                                |  |
| 3. A child's learnin  | ·<br>               | Undecided.  y more meaningful to           | ::                                | earning to an adult.                     |
|   | ·<br>               | Undecided .                                | ::                                |  |



|       |                     |   |                      |               |              | J.L/                |
|-------|---------------------|---|----------------------|---------------|--------------|---------------------|
| 19.   | Given adequate mot  | ivation adu                             | lts can master comp  | lex tasks a   | as well as y | ounger learners     |
|       |                     | •                                       | •                    | •             | •            | •                   |
| S     | Strongly agree      |   | Undecided            | <del></del> • | Str          | ongly disagree      |
|       | <b>5</b> . <b>6</b> |   | -                    |               | _            |                     |
| 11.   | An adult's ability  | to develop                              | skills and understa  | and concept   | s is genera  | lly less than       |
|       | children.           |   |                      |               |              |                     |
|       |                     |   |                      | •             |              | •                   |
| S     | trongly agree       | ·                                       | ::::::::::           | <u> </u>      | <br>Str      | :<br>ongly disagree |
| J     | ,                   |   | 0                    |               | 561          | 061) 01006100       |
| 12.   | Units or materials  | about life                              | time occupations are | e very appr   | opriately i  | ntroduced in        |
|       | the elementary sch  | ool. (grade                             | s 1-6)               |               |              |                     |
|       |                     |   |                      |               |              |                     |
| ç     | trongly agree       |   | :::::::::::_         | :             | :<br>Str     | :<br>ongly disagree |
| J     | erongly agree       |   | Choccaded            |               | 562          | J                   |
| 13.   | Learning has best   | occurred who                            | en an individual car | n use it in   | unfamiliar   | or problem          |
|       | situations.         |   |                      |               |              |                     |
|       |                     | -                                       |                      | _             |              | •                   |
| S     | trongly agree       | ·                                       | Undecided            |               | Str          | <br>ongly disagree  |
| 5     | erougly agree       |   | 0110001000           |               |              | J.1.8-7 02018100    |
| 14.   | Adults can learn as | s easily as                             | the "younger set" e  | even though   | the rate m   | ay be different.    |
|       |                     |   |                      |               |              |                     |
| 0     | •                   | · ·                                     | 71333                | <u> </u>      | ·            | : ongly disagree    |
| 5     | trongly agree       |   | Undecided            |               | SELV         | Mgly disagree       |
| 15.   | Learning can occasi | ionally be '                            | 'fun" but is usually | pretty se     | rious busine | 285.                |
|       | <b>G</b>            | -                                       |                      |               |              |                     |
|       |                     | <u> </u>                                | 2                    | <u> </u>      | :            |                     |
| S     | trongly agree       |   | Undecided            |               | Str          | ongly disagree      |
| 16.   | Strange as it seems | the highs                               | er the educational l | evel one a    | ttains, the  | less apt he is      |
|       | to participate in o |   |                      |               | ,            | •                   |
|       | •                   |   |                      |               |              |                     |
|       | ·                   | ·                                       | Undecided            |               |              | : ongly disagree    |
| S     | trongly agree       |   | Undecided            | •             | 5110         | mgry disagree       |
| 17.   | The idea that educa | ition is a l                            | ifelong process is   | too comple    | x for elemen | ntary (grades       |
| - / • | 1-6) students.      |   |                      | •             |              |                     |
|       | •                   |   |                      |               |              |                     |
|       | ••                  | •                                       | :::::                | :             | ·:           | :<br>ongly disagree |
| S     | trongly agree       |   | Undecided            |               | 2110         | mgly disagree       |
| 19    | Adult education sho | ould receive                            | general public sup   | port from     | tax monies j | ust as we tax       |
|       | for pre-adult educa |   |                      | •             | •            |                     |
|       | •                   |   |                      |               |              |                     |
|       |                     |   |                      | <b>:</b>      | :            | :<br>ongly disagree |
| Si    | rrongly agree       |   | Undecided            |               | SEEC         | mgly disagree       |
| 19.   | New insights are ar | effective                               | reward for continui  | ng learnin    | g.           | •                   |
| • / • | new Thorgheo are at | . ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, |                      |               | _            |                     |
| •     |                     | * ************************************  |                      |               | :            |                     |
| S     | trongly agree       |   | Undecided            |               | Stro         | ongly disagree      |
|       |                     |   |                      |               |              |                     |



| 20.          | Academic are phase of the | eas in the<br>e total p | ne element<br>program of | ary school<br>elementary | grades 1<br>y educatio | n.           | ie singie i | most important | -           |
|--------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|--------------|-------------|----------------|-------------|
|              | •                         |                         |                          |                          |                        | :            | . :         | :              |             |
| <i>•</i>     | Strongly agree            | <del>_</del> ·          | •                        | Undec                    | ided                   |              | S1          | rongly disagr  | :e <b>e</b> |
|              |                           |                         |                          |                          |                        |              |             |                |             |
| 2 ?          | When confro               | nrad with               | unfamili                 | ar problem:              | s adults a             | re likely    | to give an  | nswers quite a | 15          |
| <u>, 1 •</u> | self-contra               | dictory,                | inconsist                | ent, and na              | aive as ch             | ildren do.   |             | ·              |             |
|              |                           |                         |                          | _                        |                        | •            | •           | •              |             |
| (            | Strongly agre             | _:                      |                          | :<br>Undec:              | ided ·                 | ·            | ·           | rongly disagn  | cee         |
| •            |                           |                         |                          | -                        |                        |              |             |                |             |
| 22.          |                           |                         | esses, hom               | es and scho              | ools of Am             | erica are    | remaining   | havens of      |             |
|              | stability to              | oday.                   |                          |                          |                        |              |             |                |             |
|              | •                         | <u></u> :               | :                        | :                        | :                      | :            | :           | •              |             |
| 2.2          | An individua              | al in tod               | laute worl               | d can usua               | llv acquir             | e in his v   | outh the i  | oulk of the    |             |
| 23.          | knowledge a               | nd skill                | necessary                | to live a                | dequately              | for the re   | est of his  | life.          |             |
|              | •                         |                         |                          | _                        | _                      | •            | • .         | •              |             |
| ·            | :<br>Strongly agree       | _:                      | <u> </u>                 | Undec:                   | ided                   | ·            | <br>S1      | rongly disagr  | :ee         |
| •            |                           | •                       |                          |                          |                        | <b>.</b> . • |             |                |             |
| 24.          | • -                       | le that a               | dult lear                | ning should              | d be optio             | nal is bas   | sic to our  | democratic     |             |
|              | society.                  |                         |                          |                          |                        |              |             |                |             |
|              | •                         | :                       | ; <u>.</u>               | :                        | <u> </u>               | •            | :           | rongly disagr  | - 00        |
|              | Strongly agree            | 2                       |                          | Undec                    | 1060                   |              | 31          | Tongly alsage  | 22          |
| 25.          | Such every                | day activ               | ities as                 | child rais:              | ing, food              | preparatio   | on and leis | sure time      |             |
|              | activities                | io not ch               | ange much                | during a p               | person's l             | ifetime.     |             |                |             |
|              | •                         | :                       | :                        | •                        | •                      | <b>:</b>     | :           | <b>:</b>       |             |
| 5            | Strongly agree            | 2                       |                          | Undec                    | ided                   |              | St          | rongly disagr  | :e <b>e</b> |
| 2.0          | Adult educat              | tion prod               | rame chou                | ld he finar              | ncially su             | pported in   | a manner    | similar to     |             |
| 26.          | elementary                | and secon               | dary educ                | ation.                   |                        |              | •           | •              |             |
|              | •                         |                         | -                        |                          | _                      | •            | •           | •              |             |
| (            | :<br>Strongly agree       | • <u></u> -             |                          | Undec                    | :<br>ided              | ·_           | St          | rongly disagr  | :e <b>e</b> |
| •            | Peromera agree            | -                       |                          |                          |                        |              |             | •              |             |

THANK YOU FOR YOUR HELP!

PLEASE RETURN THIS SCALE IMMEDIATELY IN THE ENVELOPE PROVIDED

eric Clearinghouse

MARZ 0 1969

On The Exercision

